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The Fire Station in Košice 
 
 
 
Adriana Priatková 
Technical University of Košice, Faculty of Arts, Department of Theory and History of Art, Letná 9, 042 00 Košice, 
Slovak Republic 
 
 
 
 
 
Abstract 
 
Only a few original personalities, which “would have gone with the flow” and stood out greatly 
though, can be found in the architecture of the inter-war period in the territory of Slovakia. The 
knowledge gained on the basis of many years of research defines the position of architect 
Oelschläger – Őry as exceptional in the context of the town of Košice (but also Slovakia, former 
Sub-Carpathian Ruthenia and Hungary). His works of a large scale as well as the smaller 
buildings, implemented with remarkable confidence and genuine rendering, formed significantly 
Košice modernism in 1920’s and 1930’s. They rank among the most valuable buildings that 
modernism has bequeathed in architecture in Košice: five structures in Košice, two in 
Michalovce and one in the High Tatras have been enlisted among the National Cultural 
Monuments. 
 
Key words: inter-war architecture, Košice modernism, historicism, functionalism, National Cultural 
Monuments 
 
 

The idea of establishing a professional fire-fighting body was considered from as early as 1866 
by the Košice Town Council officials. In 1872, the statutes of the Firemen’s Association, signed by 
236 members, were approved by the Ministry of the Interior of the Kingdom of Hungary. The Košice 
Voluntary Firemen’s Association (Kassai Önkéntes Tüzoltó Egyesület) was subsequently established. 
The town provided the necessary premises on Kováčska Street, as well as allocating financial 
resources for the first four employed firemen. The rich history of fire-fighting in Košice, including 
better as well as worse periods, gradually flourished. During the First World War, only five employed 
firemen and ten volunteers provided the emergency and rescue services. In 1920, the number of 
firemen increased to 18 and from 1924, there were 26 members employed.  

“During the period of the First Czechoslovak Republic, the firemen’s equipment was gradually 
supplemented. The firemen were provided with new vehicles, fire engines as well as with manual 
pumps. The fire equipment, situated at different places, made the rescue interventions more difficult 
and slowed them down.” [1] When the town of Košice became the centre of the District Firemen’s 
Association, the firemen managed to convince the town officials about the urgent necessity of larger 
premises. The Town Council approved the construction of a new fire station with a budget of 3.5 
million crowns, and put its design out to tender. “A design by the young Košice architect Ľudovít 
Oelschläger with the name “Red Cockerel” has won out of 15 evaluated projects. Oelschläger has 
gained first prize and a reward of 10 000 crowns.”[2] The winning design was exhibited for the public 
in the premises of the Town Hall in Košice.  
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Fig. 1. Fire station after its finishing, view of the tower [Photo from a period publication (1932)] 

 
The young, commencing architect was highly efficient and hard-working [3]. Almost a year 

after his return to his hometown Košice, he submitted his designs concurrently to different 
competitions, some of which he came out of as the winner. From the functional point of view, the 
buildings were diverse; their disposition and operation were always carried out in an original, but at 
the same time functional way. This was also the case of the Košice fire-fighters’ point of view: “The 
Košice fire-fighters and rescuers can be proud of the most modern fire station in the republic.”[4] 
This unique architectural and urban complex, relatively pure in its style, has served its original 
purpose since its establishment.  

 
Fig. 2. Fire station, main building, ground- floor plan [Photo from a period publication (1932)] 
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“The layout of the building was as follows: There is an inspection room, and a garage for the 
fire-engines situated on the ground floor. When the alarm is raised, only one button needs to be 
pressed in the inspection room, and the whole building resonates. The doors to the garage open 
automatically, while the fire-fighters slide down the poles from the upstairs bedrooms to the fire-
engines on the ground floor, and in several seconds they can set off to an endangered place. The fire 
station has a special telephone, an inspection room, a surgery and a sick-bay. The first floor 
comprises bedrooms, a canteen, a community room, bathrooms and the offices for the officers and the 
crew. There is a very well-equipped gym situated on the second floor. A separate building provides the 
commanding officer, his deputy as well as all the non-commissioned officers with adequate flats. A 
courtyard of 2000 square fathoms, covered with gravel, has been adapted as a training ground. The 
structure of a climbing “house” has been erected there, and a bowling alley built a little later. We 
cannot agree more that this fire station belongs among the most modern buildings of this type, and is 
rightly the pride of the town of Košice regarding not only its equipment but also its architecture.” [5] 

 
Fig. 3. Fire station, main building, first-floor plan [Photo from a period publication (1932)] 

 
The new Fire Station in Košice [6], built between 1925-1927 [7] by the Košice Stincsik 

& Deckert firm, was ceremonially handed over for use on 21st July 1928.  

“The 21st of July 1928 was a memorial day for the fire brigade. It has been written into the 
Town Chronicle, as well as into the foundation stone of the Fire Station. The Košice inhabitants were 
truly happy... The pomp and celebration of the firemen and also the citizens were really sincere. The 
fire-brigade band played music, people danced and sang, and goulash was cooked. The employed as 
well as the volunteer firemen set off to parade from the old premises to the new complex. ... The new, 
spacious and functionally furnished building started to serve its purpose. At that time, the Fire Station 
was one of the most beautiful buildings in the town.” [8] 

The joy of the firemen and their pride in the new, modern premises was justifiable. In that 
locality, it still is the most valuable architectural complex, which no other building from the later 
surrounding area could be compared to. This original work has been a lasting contribution not only to 
the town of Košice, but also to the European architectural scene. Inspired by history, the young 
architect used again his creative potential on this building of exceptional quality and timelessness. 
With his unconventional view of historical art, he freely developed the richness of formal variety 
combined with modernity.  

The buildings of the Fire Station, which are interconnected with volumes of small “bridges”, 
occupy almost two thirds of the street length [9]. The complex is situated in the quiet residential area 
to the south-east of the Urban Conservation Area border. While respecting the defining street line, 
Oelschläger approached his concept with a playful inventiveness, the same way as he did with the 
other significant buildings of his early period [10]. He created interesting and dynamic urban premises 
by forming the façades, shifting the bodies of the buildings and using different heights of the floors. 
The compact, refined architectural volumes of all the three Fire Station buildings with original 
morphological elements have become the natural dominant feature of the area.  
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Fig. 4. Inauguration ceremony of the Fire station in Košice in July 1928 
[Fond of historical photography of the East Slovak Museum in Košice] 

 

 
Fig. 5. View of the garages and the tower from the inner yard, current state 

[Photo by A. Priatková] 
 

The composition of the central, two-storey tract of the Fire Station building reflects the inner 
function with its morphology. The large-capacity garage is enclosed with the playful arcade of the 
garage gates. The window openings on the first floor brighten the firemen’s common rooms and their 
bedrooms. The connection between the first floor and the ground floor was provided by poles, used by 
the firemen to slide down. The lateral, three-storey wings, dynamically projecting in front of the 
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façade, included sanitary facilities with dressing-rooms, and access to the tower in the west part. The 
formation of the façades of the risaltos gradating sideways, as well as the terraces with their stylish 
metal railings, appeals to the viewer with their exceptional quality. The large windows and also the 
gates are bordered by relief surrounds, projecting in front of the façades. In the symmetrical axis of the 
complex, there is a metal banner holder situated above the arch of the ground floor. The expressive 
horizontal lines of the window ledges and the cornices are complemented with the relief segmentation 
of the ground part above the plinth. The prominent stucco bands cross continuously even through the 
pillars between the garage gates. The compositional stylisation of the windows and balconies of 
different shapes, together with the circular cartouche with the symbol of a fireman, as well as the 
sculptural rendition of the entrance, also engage the attention [11]. Supporting the elegant, shallow, 
ellipsoid bracket of a balcony, there is a stylised head of a fireman with a helmet, made from artificial 
stone of the same quality and colouring as the plinth of the building. In the axis of the same risalto, 
there is the Košice coat of arms, abutting the risalto cornice with its upper edge. There used to be a 
sign “HASIČSKÁ KASÁREŇ” (FIRE STATION) situated directly below it.  

The lateral, three-storey buildings with cellars served for administrative and residential 
purposes. The floor level on the ground floor is shifted half a storey higher than the floor level in the 
main building, which strengthens the dynamics of the façade. The round and flattened arches, the 
keystones, the circular and blind windows, the corners with bossage, and the pillars are implemented 
again in creative combinations. 

 

                
Figs. 6, 7. View of the main building and the tower from Požiarnická St., current state 

[Photo by A. Priatková] 

 
The rear view of the complex from the training ground is even more dynamic. The side volumes 

project in front of the middle section more prominently, creating an inner space there suitable for 
parking. The covered arcades in their inner corners protect the entries to the buildings. Facing the 
enclosed training ground, the tower for drying hoses is the dominant feature of the north-west corner 
of the main building. The vertical mass of the tower’s square section is set into the main building by 
half of its volume. The western façade displays a playful design of various window and door openings 
with small balconies in accord with the communicating sections of the building. Their gradation 
towards the top of the tower is surmounted by a monumental projecting cornice, surrounding the 
whole platform with metal railings and banner holders. The terrace carries the cubic volume of a 
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covered porch with an inner exit and a metal ladder. The composition of this watchtower, opened on 
three sides, is created by triplets of high openings with rounded arches. The elegant volume of arcades 
and the shallow broach roof are optically separated by a projecting cornice. A vertical body of rounded 
shape is attached to the volume of the tower from the northern side. This drying “room” for hoses, 
which is ventilated by a line of slit openings, rises above the tower by one storey. Its top platform, 
accessible by a metal ladder attached to the drying shaft, provides a view of the surrounding Košice 
area. The elegant, “machine-like” design of the tower is made more interesting by a circular window 
on the east side, as well as by the relief cornice and metal railings on the top platform.  

All the façades, which used to be of red colour, [12] have been rendered with a fine Syderolith 
plaster [13]. The interiors of the premises were plastered with a white skim coat; the staircases, with 
steps of artificial stone, are constructed from reinforced concrete. The metal railings are each of 
different design. Unfortunately, the original windows, as well as the interior wooden doors with 
original metalwork, were exchanged during the last reconstruction for new, mostly plastic ones. Even 
the exterior, street and yard garage gates have been changed. Some of the original window and door 
grilles with specific design have been preserved. New premises have been built on the northern and 
western side of the inner yard with a training wall. The brick wall, which separated the large fire 
station premises from the surrounding area of mostly family houses at the time of the construction, has 
been preserved [14]. 

Since its opening in 1928, the Košice Fire Station has functioned without any essential 
alterations. After the foundation of the Fire-fighting and Rescue Brigade in 2002 [15], the buildings 
were transferred from the town’s possession to that of the state. The technical equipment, which was 
appropriate at the beginning of the 20th century, did not meet the technical and personal requirements 
any more. The general reconstruction of the building, by then preserved as a National Cultural 
Monument, was carried out in 2004-2006 under the supervision of the Regional Heritage Office in 
Košice. The south-western building, which included the commanding officer’s former flat, still 
belonged to the Fire Insurance Company in the 1990’s. Today, it is a private property, including an 
extension from its western side [16]. 
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Abstract 
 
The new millennium brings new challenges, opportunities and risks, even in the largest service 
sector in the world – in tourism. Record numbers of tourists criss-cross the globe. They are 
attracted by an increasing offer of tours, adventure experiences and travels tailored to their 
specific needs. Being prepared for this growth requires knowing the incentives and expectations 
of tourists are what structure of products they want and are willing to pay for them. The aim of 
the contribution is to gain knowledge about the trends in tourism and to find out to which extent 
the known, desired and used trends abroad can be used on the Slovak tourism market. Primary 
and secondary sources were used. The field research results were processed by quantitative and 
qualitative methods, including the Delphi method. The results of primary research show that the 
tourists are looking for new destinations, new forms, quality, adrenaline, rewarding experiences 
and multigenerational travel. 
 
Key words: tourism trends, demand in tourism, tourism offer 
 
 
1. Introduction 
 

Tourism operates worldwide, and is becoming the driving force of the economies of countries 
all around the world. Its growth will undoubtedly continue. The market of tourism booms with growth, 
new activities, new destinations, technologies, new markets and revolutionary changes. The forecasts 
of traffic, income and growth of employment for most destinations predict a relatively rosy future. 
Tourism is undergoing dynamic development [Zelenka, 2010], so nowadays it is increasingly more 
important and necessary to adapt to individual trends in tourism, whether by the offer or the demand. 
The trends in near or far future will influence the creation of tourism products. 

Higham identifies trends in tourism as a long-term change in behaviour and attitudes of 
consumers [Higham, 2009]. Globalisation, fragmentation, rapid lifestyle changes, the shift from mass 
to individual tourism, new types of holiday-stays, and higher demands on the quality of services 
provided are factors [Travel and Tourism Competitiveness Report, 2017] that can influence consumer 
behaviour. Several authors listed in Table 1 agree on the growing globalisation and the dependence on 
the prosperity of the destination. The pressure of globalisation has a major impact on small and 
medium-sized businesses in tourism [Alejziak, 2007; Borovský et al., 2008; Gúčik, 2010]. More and 
more small and medium-sized businesses are engaged in tourism in Slovakia. Family businesses 
belong to one of the oldest forms of business in the Slovak Republic [Hudáková et al., 2015].  
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Table 1. Factors affecting trends in tourism 

Borovský [2008] Alejziak [2007] Gúčik [2010] UNWTO [1998] 

deepening globalisation globalisation globalisation and 
localization 

conditionality  
of globalisation 

use of ICT for the supply and 
distribution of products 

use of modern technologies 
in ordinary life 

increase in ICT increase in ICT 

interest in the environment, the 
search for „unspoiled“ nature 

development of ecological 
activities 

 development of  
eco-tourism 

comfort and ease of travel development of transport 
technologies 

 development of transport 
technologies, ease of travel 

active tourism, adventure  active tourism, adventure active tourism, fun  
demographic change, 
independent travel 

demographic change demographic change  

 unstable situation in some 
regions of the world 

  

 international terrorism   
  knowledge-based 

economy 
 

   the beginning of tourism 
into the near universe 

 
Some authors concretise demographic changes that are related not only to aging of tourists, but 

also to changes in family structures, as well as changing of their social status. These changes also 
affect the mobility of seniors, which is largely influenced by demand for health, spa and thematic 
tourism. Due to the aging of the European population and the changing composition of households, 
new types of passengers appear. Relatively new European target groups have become interesting 
markets. According to tourism experts, target groups in future tourism trends will include seniors, 
handicapped travellers, solo travellers, gays and lesbians, families with older children, single parents 
and groups [The Centre for Promotion of Imports, 2018]. For these specific target groups it needs to 
focus on adapting products to their needs and preferences. For example, seniors may require increased 
comfort and services, while single parents require modest, family-friendly accommodation. 

The report on the competitiveness of the tourism says that the ability of the industry to continue 
to generate growth, create jobs and enable national development and regional integration depends on 
whether it recognizes and adapts to the key trends and transformation issues that will affect the sector 
in the short-, medium- and a long-term horizon [Travel and Tourism Competitiveness Report, 2017]. 
The development of strategic management is not random, but a result of the previous development and 
adaptation of managing entities of local government to the conditions of the development of the 
country. One of the tools of strategic management, which is used by the local government, is the 
strategy [Gecíková, Papcunová, 2013]. 

The UN declared 2017 as the International Year of Sustainable Tourism Development. When 
sustainability is no longer a competitive advantage, it becomes a norm. European travel agencies 
increasingly require that their suppliers are sustainable and also try to increase the range of sustainable 
tours and activities. 

The modern phenomenon of rural economics represents also rural tourism, which is capable of 
balancing the natural, cultural and historical assumptions of the territory and at the same time can 
become not only the main but also the secondary source of income for the municipality [Kompasová, 
2018; Reháková, Zimanová, 2004]. Rural tourism has its territory in municipalities, where there is not 
a big tourist centre. Its typical product can be agro tourism and tourism linked exclusively to an 
agricultural farm [Stříbrná, 2005]. Nowadays there are the so-called „farm houses“ in many countries 
such as Germany, Austria.  

We also have a similar product in Slovakia, so-called direct sales of agricultural products from 
the yard to the final consumer [Babinský et al., 2012]. 
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Cosmic tourism or space tourism is a matter of a near future, although many consider this idea 
to be futuristic. The main goal of space tourism is to open the boundaries of the universe to all and to 
promote private space exploration. Despite the high interest in space tourism, it is clear that, given the 
disproportionately high cost of space travel, too many people will not look in space [Spacefuture, 
2018]. 

In addition to general social trends, trends in the development of tourism in areas and regions 
can also be identified. The World Tourism Organization (UNWTO) also addressed this issue, and in 
its publication Tourism 2020 Vision it indicated that in the first 20 years of the new millennium, 
international tourism would exceed 1.56 billion tourists annually. The most visited regions should be 
Europe, East Asia with the Pacific and both Americas, followed by Africa, the Middle East and South 
Asia. 

Europe should maintain the highest traffic worldwide, but it will drop to 46%, East Asia and the 
Pacific will gain 25% of the worldwide traffic, leaving the Americans on the third place [Goeldner, 
Ritchie, 2014]. The authors assume that more and more American tourists will visits countries such as 
Cuba, Libya and North Korea. Travellers from Brazil, India, Russia and China will increasingly visit 
European metropolis with the intention of buying luxury goods [Gregorová, 2015]. The Middle-East 
should follow the boom of so-called shopping hotels that will be near or close to shopping malls or 
they will even be a part of them. 

Tourism in Africa will be influenced by the so-called Nollywood. The term refers to Nigerian 
film industry, which is India's second largest in the world and attracts by its exotic culture [Kotíková, 
2013].  

Another trend in tourism products should be "digital detox". It is based on the fact that 
consumers are increasingly dependent on their electronic devices, so hotels will offer them a detox 
digital holiday to get rid of stress for at least a while [Euromonitor, 2018]. This trend also met with 
misunderstanding. The opponents of this idea believe that 2020 will be characterized by the 
penetration of technology into all aspects of life. Automatic service will become the norm and, given 
the possibility of full access and exchange of information, almost everything will be possible from the 
comfort of home. 

The flow of technology is closely related to the use of advanced robots with many features that 
are capable of performing many of the services that tourism requires. Robots are generally used in 
industry for decades [Siteminder, 2018]. Tourism should primarily include activities such as room 
cleaning, bedding, serving food and carrying luggage. This trend also has its fans. Some of the authors 
are wondering if robots are able to provide the psychological and therapeutic support traditionally 
done by a favourite waiter, but there are certainly numbers of other care giving activities in which 
robots can excel. 

Trends have also penetrated the transport sector. The increasing competition of new airline 
players puts greater emphasis on the need to differentiate. Unique and creative rewards can attract 
the attention of regular customers as well as casual passengers. Mobile phone applications have 
become crucial for airlines to engage with consumers, especially since smart phone ownership is 
increasing worldwide. Both Ryanair and easyJet launched loyalty programs recently in 2016 and 
2015. Free seat reservation, priority dining, extra bag and free return flight are some of the 
benefits offered by these programs. Delta and American Airlines allow passengers to store 
boarding passes electronically under Apple’s Wallet on both iPhone and Android devices. Other 
applications provide e.g. immediate updates on flight status. 

Tourism experts have predicted years ago that brokerage services as such are slowly 
disappearing. On the other hand, intermediaries are constantly making more deals than in the past, and 
there is an increase in direct sales. Since the Internet began providing customers with the option of 
planning and booking their own routes, speculation has begun to reveal how high chance of surviving 
the travel agencies have [Goeldner, Ritchie, 2014]. Currently, travel agencies are reorienting 
themselves to selling more recreational tours. Their product portfolio will lean towards more complex 
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and risky transactions such as bookings of sightseeing tours, cruises, honeymoon tours, but simple and 
less risky transactions such as direct flights or hotel rooms will be done via the internet. Travel 
agencies will have to adapt to new markets as well [Locomote, 2018]. 

Figure 1. The impact of trends on tourism 
[Source: processed in accordance with Dwyer, 2008] 

 
Figure 1 shows some links between target location management, business management and the 

development of new tourism products. Target and business management are realized in a remote 
environment, which is dominated by global trends. These factors are largely out of control, but they 
set the context of the development strategy in order to achieve a competitive advantage over 
competitors. New products can be developed by companies that are in line with planned tourism flows 
and adaptation to tourism values and needs. 
 
 
2. Objective, material and methodology of the study  
 

The aim of the paper was to get acquainted with the trends in the near or far future of tourism 
and to find out to what extent the known, desired and used trends abroad can be used on the Slovak 
tourism market. In order to obtain a comprehensive view of the problem solved, we used secondary 
and primary resources, quantitative and qualitative methods of processing, random and deliberate 
selection of the research sample, as shown in Figure 2. 

Figure 2. Graphic processing of the scope of field research and processing methods 
[Source: own processing] 
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We investigated the future trends in tourism development at the online sales manager and call 
centre of a selected travel agency with the most important technique of qualitative interviewing and 
structured interviewing (consent for its specification was not granted). The interview consisted of 9 
pre-prepared questions, including a question about what products and destinations customers are 
interested in and what they expect from the offer of the travel agency in the near future. 

In the post, we also used the prognostic Delphi method - a method of group search for a solution 
by identifying the views of an expert group and anticipating further developments in the area. Its 
purpose was to achieve convergence of opinion and a certain consensus on the relevant issue between 
experts and professionals. The questions focused on the current state of tourism in Slovakia, but also 
abroad, what trends can be expected from the point of view of the operators representing the offer, but 
also of the tourism participants representing the demand. We also looked at what obstacles can affect 
optimistic forecasts of growth in international tourism. We created 3 target groups, including tourism 
experts, students and tourists. The Delphi method was conducted with a survey approach, a 
questionnaire was created, and the questioning was carried out in two rounds. By using the Delphi 
method we have gained consensus of experts to views at the future of tourism development. 

In order to identify future trends in the development of tourism by demand, we used the 
questionnaire survey method for potential clients, where we focused on consumer buying behaviour. 
In pre-sale behaviour, we investigated what is the main motivation of clients' holidays (motivators); 
we followed the attitudes of clients in „after-sales“ behaviour. The questionnaire consisted of 21 
closed or open questions, and was distributed over the internet and 69 respondents took part in it. 

The purpose of the questionnaire survey was to find information on the use of the selected travel 
agent's products, the frequency of use, what the motives for participating in the tourism of potential 
clients are, and what promotional materials they use when choosing products. At the end of the survey, 
we investigated what kind of leisure time the participants could be interested in the future. The 
complex results of this research are due to the context and scope not listed in this article.  
 
 
3. Results and discussion 
 

Tourism trends are changing rapidly both horizontally and vertically. International trends need 
to be recognized, adapted and applied to the conditions of that particular country. A country that 
adapts more quickly to these dynamic changes has a greater chance of success. Trends in tourism have 
penetrated into its entire system of demand, supply, or market. The aim of the thesis was to find out to 
what extent the desired and largely recognized and used trends abroad can be used in the Slovak 
tourism market. 

After an in-depth review of the theoretical background on the subject, as well as the results of 
field research on supply and demand, using the multiple qualitative and quantitative methods, we 
reached the conclusions outlined in Table 2. 

It follows from the foregoing that answers differ in the heterogeneity of the survey sample of 
respondents. They agree that Slovakia as a goal destination has a high potential for tourism 
development, new forms of tourism are demanded, quality is required. Interest in domestic tourism is 
growing very slowly. The reason why tourists prefer foreign holidays can be an existing offer of cheap 
tours to seaside destinations. 

In the expert assessment method, we have also noticed perceptions regarding the threat to the 
development of tourism either for terrorist or political reasons. Also interesting were the opinions of 
experts who stated that: „in the future, clients will focus more on learning about country and culture 
than on vacation at sea alone and relaxing as it has been so far "or that „the visitor will become the 
guest of the visited community." 

The results of primary research are aimed at widespread recognition and identification of 
whether tourism actors are working with trend-based theoretical approaches and whether they are 
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identical to tourism offer and demand. The following table provides information and comparison of 
primary research results and published tourism trends. 
 

Table 2. Summarizing results of field research [Source: own processing] 

Tourism offer Tourism demand 
Structured interview Delphi method Questionnaire survey 

- impacts on consumer behaviour and 
decision-making have climatic 
conditions 

- compared to Western countries, 
tourism in Slovakia is less developed 
→ not aware of the benefits associated 
with tourism in the domestic 
population 

- the offer of a travel agency from the 
respondents' perspective is attractive 
and interesting 

- retreat of preferences buying trips 
last minute  

- the low rate of tourism promotion in 
Slovakia 

- the travel agency has a sophisticated 
and thoughtful marketing 
communication with its clients 

- past = last minute, presence = first 
minute 

- the focus of tourists to explore the 
country, its culture, how to relax at the 
sea as it has been so far 

- most popular type of holiday is still 
a holiday at sea 

- client care, individual approach to 
the client 

- demand for better services - tourists would welcome less 
expensive tours 

- the travel agency has not recorded a 
significant increase or decrease in 
clients over the last few years, due to 
stable level of clientele travelling with 
the given travel agency several times a 
year 

- the growth of rural tourism and the 
demand for regional products 

- Internet and reviews from the 
acquaintances belong to the most used 
marketing tools in the presence 

- an increase in the purchase of tours 
online 

- tourism in future will affect modern 
ICT technologies 

- up to 88% chose to spend holidays 
abroad 

- the increased interest of seniors in 
participation in tourism 

- there will be growing interest in 
travelling by seniors 

- most of the respondents used the 
services of the travel agency in the 
past and were satisfied 

- the impact of terrorist attacks on the 
client's decision to buy a trip 

- when selecting a holiday abroad, 
clients will choose destinations where 
there is no danger and political unrest 

- tourists are no longer enjoying 
classic vacations, but they want to 
enjoy their experiences and adventure 

 - domestic holidays will prevail over 
foreign 

- absence of adrenaline tours 

 - immigration of large numbers of 
people into European countries 

 

 
Table 3. Comparison of the theoretical and practical trends in tourism [Source: own processing] 

Current trends 

practical starting-point 
demand side offer side 

theoretical starting-point 
- the Delphi method 
and questionnaire survey 

- structured interview 
method used 

- globalisation, fragmentation, change of lifestyle, 
transfer from mass to individual tourism, new types 
of holiday stays, higher demands on the quality of 
provided services [Vanhove, 2005] 

- new types of holiday stays 
- shift from mass to 
individual tourism 

- new types of holiday stays  
- lifestyle changes 

- developing new forms of tourism: 
rural tourism [Kompasová, 2010] 
space tourism [Goeldner, Ritchie, 2014; UNWTO 1998] 
active tourism [Borovský, 2008; Gúčik, 2010; UNWTO 1998] 
film tourism [Kotíková, 2013, Gregorová, 2015] 
tourism focused on the LOHAS segment [Kotíková, 
2013; Gebbie et al., 2015; Dwyer et al., 2008] 

 
- rural tourism 
 
- active tourism 
 
- health tourism and thermal 
cures 

 
 
 
- active tourism 
 
- health tourism and thermal 
cures 
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- new target groups: seniors, disabled travellers, 
LGBT tourists [Centre for the Promotion of Imports 
from developing countries, 2017; Kotíková, 2013; 
Goeldner, Ritchie, 2014] 

- increase in seniors’ 
participation in tourism 

- increase in seniors’ 
participation in tourism 

- globalisation, increase in ICT [Borovský, 2008; 
Alejziak, 2007; Gúčik, 2010; UNWTO 1998, Dwyer et 
al., 2008] 

- increase in ICT - increase in ICT 

- demographic changes [Borovský, 2008; Alejziak, 
2007; Gúčik, 2010] 

 - demographic changes 

- development of transport technologies [Borovský, 
2008; Alejziak, 2007; UNWTO 1998] 

- development of transport 
technologies 

 

- interest in environment, development of ecologic 
activities [Borovský, 2008; Alejziak, 2007; UNWTO 
1998] 

  

- tourism affected by international terrorism 
[Alejziak, 2007; Goeldner, Ritchie, 2014, Gebbie et al., 
2015; Dwyer et al., 2008] 

- tourism affected by 
international terrorism 

- currently an important 
factor in consumer decision 
making 

- trying to get an Asian tourist [(Goeldner, Ritchie, 
2014; UNWTO, 1998] 

  

- use of robots in tourism [Goeldner, Ritchie, 2014; 
Gebbie et al., 2015] 

  

- „digital detox“ [Euromonitor 2013; Kotíková, 2013]   
- development of air transport [Goeldner, Ritchie, 2014]   
- the most visited region will be Europe [World Travel 
Trend Report, 2016; Goeldner, Ritchie, 2014; Dwyer et 
al., 2008] 

  

 
 
Conclusion 
 

The first result of this text, based on an empirical basis, is an attempt to summarize domestic or 
foreign publications related to tourism trends. Based on the primary results obtained by several 
qualitative and quantitative methods, we have come to the conclusion that tourism is going through 
growth, with dynamic developments on many levels, with often conflicting trends. Comparing the 
results of the primary survey with the theoretical published views on the future of tourism, there has 
been a consensus that visit to countries and cities that have not yet appeared on glossy pages of 
bedecks is coming to the fore. Less popular destinations attract the charm of the unknowable. The 
visitor's mind is changing, waiting for closer contact with the local population, increasing the 
attractiveness of new forms of tourism, changing the feelings, searching for adrenaline experiences 
and, last but not least, discovering the world with "grandmother". 
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Abstract 
 
This paper presents an overview of some important changes in the accounting, reporting and 
taxation, including information on the new concept of accounting and taxation for the period of 
2019–2020. It defines primarily changes made by the Act No. 563/1991 Sb., On Accounting, 
Decree No. 500/2002 Sb., and the Act No. 586/1992 Sb., On Income Tax, and other regulations 
concerning the Czech accounting and tax legislation. Changes were made in accordance with 
requirements and obligations of EU member states to transpose the Directive 2013/34/EU, which 
deals with financial statements, into their national legislation. Other changes mentioned in the 
paper are based on the already completed recodification of private law in the context of aligning 
and adjusting accounting and tax terminology. The paper further informs about significant 
changes and proposals within the newly prepared concept of accounting (in the period of 2020-
2030) and the upcoming tax package from 2019, as well as the project of the Ministry of Finance 
of the Czech Republic "MY Taxes”. 
 
Key words: tax, value added tax, income taxes, European directives, business entity, accounting, 
reporting  
 
 
1. Introduction 
 

The development of international trade, increasing globalisation of the economy, and 
international co-operation are factors that have greatly increased the pressure on the regulation and 
harmonization of accounting and taxation in the global context. In the area of accounting and financial 
reporting, International Financial Reporting Standards (hereafter only IFRS) are the key instrument of 
harmonization. The gradual harmonization of the Czech accounting system with IFRS is ensured 
through the implementation of selected directives of the European Union into national accounting. 
Harmonization measures have been taken not only in the area of accounting but also taxation. Under 
European Union directives, value added tax is regarded as a general excise tax. The mechanism of 
value added tax ensures the taxation of the added value at each stage of economic activity from the 
value which was added. The Act No. 235/2004 Sb., on Value Added Tax in the Czech Republic is 
harmonized with the requirements of EU directives. The area of direct taxation, on the other hand, 
which includes especially personal income tax and the corporate income tax, is currently not 
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significantly harmonized. The need for further harmonization of Czech accounting and taxation within 
the requirements of European regulation brought changes in accounting and taxation in 2018, which 
affected important legal norms. Apart from the Act No. 563/1991 Sb., on Accounting, these include 
primarily Decree No. 500/2002 Sb. implementing some provisions of the Act on Accounting and Act 
No. 586/1992 Sb., on Income Tax, and other legal norms. 
 
 
2. Changes in Accounting of Business Entities From 1 January 2018  
 

As in 2016 and 2017, in 2018 there are again significant changes in the Czech accounting 
regulations, which are based on the amendment of implementing decrees to the Act on Accounting – 
e.g. the amendment to the implementing decree for entrepreneurs No. 500/2002 Sb. by the amendment 
No. 441/2017 Sb. Changes in Czech accounting regulations were a consequence of adopting the 
Directive 2013/43/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council. In 2016, this directive brought 
the need for a large-scale amendment of Czech accounting regulations. It was, however, only a 
transfer of obligatory (mandatory) provisions. The year 2018 brought another step towards the IFRS, 
when it was necessary to transpose the optional (voluntary) provision from the Directive 2013/43/EU 
of the European Parliament and the Council. This effort brought several legislative modifications and 
changes in the following areas: 
 reporting research and development results, 
 reporting retained earnings and losses of previous years, 
 reporting accruals, 
 a change in the structure and designation of balance sheet items,  
 a change in the structure and designation of cash flow statement items, 
 goodwill amortization, 
 valuation and reporting of derivatives, 
 measurement of assets by fair value. 

As for reporting research and development results, the term “výsledky výzkumu” (research 
results) was omitted from the Decree of 500/2002 Sb. in Section 6 (1) (hereafter only Decree) because 
the intangible results of the research do not meet the criteria for recognition within the fixed assets. 
The term “výsledky vývoje” (development results) remains unchanged. Even though the term of non-
current intangible asset is not defined in the Czech accounting legislation, this step is moving us 
towards the IFRS concept of a non-current intangible asset. 

Other changes in reporting occur mainly in the balance sheet. In accordance with Section 15a of 
the Decree, retained earnings and losses of previous years will be reported in the balance sheet 
(liabilities) only in the line A.IV.1. Retained earnings or accumulated losses from previous years (+/-), 
in which their mutual elimination occurs. Retained earnings and accumulated losses will therefore not 
be reported on 2 lines of the balance sheet as they have been so far. 

Accruals are items, which were reported in the balance sheet for assets and liabilities in the last 
section "D" until 2017. The new transposition brought the option of reporting these items within 
receivables or liabilities. In the financial statements, the last section "D" has been retained for 2018, 
and therefore it is the choice of the accounting entity whether it decides to recognize accruals in the 
receivables/payables, i.e. in receivables item C.II (specifically C.II.3), for liabilities in item C 
(specifically C.III), or separately in section "D”. The accounting entity must therefore choose only one 
of these methods, as they cannot be combined. 

Another long-awaited logical change was made in the balance sheet, where the summation item 
of “dlouhodobý majetek” (fixed assets) was replaced by the term “stálá aktiva” (fixed assets), resulting 
in the unification of Czech terminology, see Table 1. Provisions of the Decree in previous accounting 
periods did not define the obligation to prepare a cash flow statement even for the preceding 
comparable (previous) period. The amendment to the Decree, in Section 4 (5) eliminated the resulting 
legislative deficit, and the obligation has been established since 2018. 
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Table 1. Change in Balance Sheet Items [Source: own processing] 

Old balance sheet items 2017 New balance sheet items 2018 
A. Receivables for capital subscription 
  (Pohledávky za upsaný vlastní kapitál) 

A. Receivables for capital subscription 
  (Pohledávky za upsaný vlastní kapitál) 

B.  Fixed assets (Dlouhodobý majetek) B.  Fixed assets (Stálá aktiva) 
C.  Current assets (Oběžná aktiva) C.  Current assets (Oběžná aktiva) 
D.  Accruals (Časové rozlišení) D.  Accruals (Časové rozlišení) 

 
A significant change in accounting procedures is a change in the definition of accounting 

amortization of goodwill. Under the current legislation, goodwill could be so far amortized on the 
straight-line basis within 60 months at the latest. In the case of goodwill or negative goodwill for more 
than 60 months, but not more than 120 months. An accounting entity was always obliged to justify this 
decision in the notes to the financial statements. This meant that goodwill could have been amortized 
even faster. However, this is no longer possible, and the accounting entity may depreciate goodwill for 
60 months, and provided that the useful life of goodwill cannot be estimated, it may range from 60 to 
120 months. 

In the area of valuation and reporting of derivatives, there is no change for accounting entities 
keeping their books under the Decree No. 500/2002 Sb.; financial instruments (derivatives) will 
continue to be reported according to IFRS principles, but this issue has already been transferred from 1 
January 2018 to Decree No. 501/2002 Sb., which is an implementing decree for accounting of banks 
and other financial institutions.  

Measurement of assets at fair value is related to the category in which the accounting entity is 
classified. As for micro accounting entities, they are not allowed to measure their assets and liabilities 
at fair value. Small, medium and large accounting entities, on the other hand, are obliged to use fair 
value measurement for a certain type of assets and liabilities. For example, if a small accounting entity 
measured a selected asset item at its fair value and would be newly classified as a micro accounting 
entity, then it is obliged to measure the asset at its fair value and cancel the revaluation against other 
profit or loss. 
 
 
3. Changes in Direct Taxation From 1 January 2018 
 

The amendment to the Act No. 586/1992 Sb., on Income Tax in the Czech Republic has again 
undergone several significant changes that affect the level of income tax and its correct calculation. 
Some approved changes began to apply retrospectively for 2017, but most of them are effective for the 
tax period of 2018.  

The most significant changes to the Income Tax Act since 2018 include, for example: 
 changes in claiming expenses as a percentage of income, i.e. a reduction in maximum amounts of 

expenses claimed by a percentage of the income for self-employed individuals, and the option of 
claiming these percentage expenses simultaneously with the claim for discount on a wife or tax 
benefit for dependent children (the concurrence can be applied already for the year 2017),  

 new rules and options for claiming withholding tax on income from dependent activity, 
 an increase in the amount of tax benefit for the first child (15,204 CZK/year, i.e. 1,267 

CZK/month), 
 more strict conditions for claiming the tax bonus for dependent children, 
 an increase in non-taxable amounts for blood and blood plasma donations, 
 growth of minimum wage, which from 1 January 2018 amounts to 12,200 CZK; this change is 

related to some provisions of the Income Tax Act, 
 an increase of average wage, which for the purpose of pension insurance in 2018 amounts to 

29,979 CZK; this change also relates to some provisions of the Income Tax Act.  
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A very significant change in the area of entrepreneurial individuals in the Czech Republic in 
2018 was the restriction of expenses as a percentage of income – so-called “lump sum expenses”, 
which entrepreneurs can deduct from their income if it is more advantageous for them and they do not 
want to keep books or tax records for their business activity. At the same time, taxpayers will be able 
to claim spouse discount (for a husband/wife) and a tax benefit for a dependent child even with these 
newly set percentage expenses, which were limited by certain conditions in the previous years. 

For 2018, expenses as a percentage of income are set in the Czech Republic as follows: 
 80% of income from agricultural production, forestry and water management, and income from 

handicraft industry; maximum applicable expenses up to 800,000 CZK, 
  60% of income from other industry and trades; maximum applicable expenses up to 600,000 

CZK, 
  30% of the income from rents of business property; maximum applicable expenses up to 300,000 

CZK, 
  40% of other income from independent activities; maximum applicable expenses 400,000 CZK. 

Application of the above-mentioned lump sums expenses in their maximum amounts 
corresponds to an income of 1,000,000 CZK. In the case of income exceeding 1,000,000 CZK, the 
taxpayer may also claim lump sum expenses but only within the limits set by the Income Tax Act as 
the maximum (so-called “capping”). 

New rules also apply to the withholding tax on income from dependent activity in 2018. 
Withholding tax was used for dependent activities only for agreements to complete a job and starting 
2018 it will also be used for agreement to perform a job if the employee’s income does not exceed 
2,500 CZK. Income taxed with the withholding tax will not have to be included in the tax return. 

Since 2018, the conditions for the payment of a tax bonus for dependent children have also been 
tightened in the Czech Republic. Capital assets income or rental income will not be included in the 
income limit required to meet the conditions for obtaining the tax bonus. The limit is six times the 
minimum wage, i.e. 73,200 CZK. The tax bonus for dependent children was limited only to taxpayers 
who have income from dependent activity or self-employment. 

Under the amendment to the Income Tax Act approved for 2017, a free-of-charge supply (gift) 
for medical purposes is awarded 3,000 CZK for a single blood donation (until the end of 2016 it was 
2,000 CZK). This amount may be deducted from the tax base for individuals if the donor has not 
received another financial reimbursement in addition to associated travel costs. Furthermore, the act 
newly introduces the option of claiming a non-taxable amount of 20,000 CZK for each donation of 
haemopoietic cells.  

As a result of the minimum wage growth to 12,200 CZK from 1 January 2018, the discount for 
the placement of a child in pre-school facility has also been increased to the same amount. In addition 
to that, the limit for obtaining the payment of the tax bonus has been increased to the amount equal to 
six times the minimum wage (73 200 CZK/year) while claiming the monthly bonus for income tax 
prepayments with the employer. The minimum wage also affects the threshold for total exemption of 
old-age pensions at the amount of 36 times the minimum wage, which is 439,200 CZK. For 
employees, the minimum wage is also the basis from which mandatory health insurance contributions 
are paid at the amount of 13.5%, i.e. 1,647 CZK/month.  

For pension insurance purposes, the average wage in 2018 amounts to 29,979 CZK. The 
average wage is important for calculating the minimum and maximum assessment bases for social and 
health insurance contributions as well as for determining the solidarity tax increase, which is 7% of the 
positive difference between the sum of income included in the partial tax base under Section 6 and the 
partial tax base under Section 7 in the relevant tax period and 48times the average wage set by the act 
regulating social security premiums. 

These are just some of the most important changes that will affect businesses, entrepreneurs, as 
well as employees in 2018. 
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4. Changes in Indirect Taxation From 1 January 2018 
 

The act No. 235/2004 Sb., on Value Added Tax, is constantly being amended. The last 
amendment was made by the Act No. 371/2017 Sb., which amends some laws in connection with the 
adoption of the Act on Payments. These amendments are effective from 1 January 2008, or more 
precisely 13 January 2018.  

The concept of unreliable person is newly defined in the Act on Value Added Tax. Under 
Section 106a, an unreliable payer is considered to be a person who seriously infringes obligations 
relating to the tax administration, for example, taxpayer with tax arrears that exceed a certain limit, or 
taxpayer for whom the tax has been repeatedly additionally assessed. An unreliable payer does not 
replace the concept of an unreliable person, which remains in the law (it has been included since 
2013). An example of an unreliable person is a person who is not a payer and seriously infringes 
obligations relating to the tax administration. The concept of unreliable persons does not apply only to 
VAT payers but to all individuals and legal persons. From the view of the tax administrator, it is an 
advantage that unreliable payer whose registration for value added tax has been abolished becomes by 
law an unreliable payer.  

Changes also occur in VAT control statement - specifically in the information reported by VAT 
payer in the statement. In addition to the general requirements, the following must be reported: 

 identification and contact details of the payer,  
 transaction and payment data,  
 data relating to the right to deduct a tax, 
 customer or supplier identification data.   

These data were included in the VAT control statement in the past, but the obligation to report 
them was not provided for by the Act on Value Added Tax but by requirements of the Financial 
Administration.  

The above-mentioned Act No. 371/2017 Sb. changes the definition of exempted transactions 
without the right to deduct a tax in the category of pension activities. For the purposes of the Act on 
Value Added Tax, pension activities also include payment services and issuance of electronic money 
or issuance and management of payment means.  

The act regulating value added tax was affected by the amendment to the Building Act. The 
definition of building plots has been complemented; the delivery of immovable property is newly 
exempted from tax after 5 years from the issuance of first occupancy permit or first occupancy permit 
decision. 

As from 1 July 2017, the reverse charge regime has been expanded. The reverse charge regime 
may be applied to the following taxable events listed below if they are made between two payers. 
These include: 
 the provision of personnel for construction or assembly work, 
 the delivery of immovable property sold by the debtor from a court decision in a forced sale procedure, 
 delivery of goods provided as a guarantee during realization of such a guarantee.  

The need to ensure further alignment of the Czech Act on Value Added Tax with EU directives 
has led to the abolition of special arrangements for companies (former associations) in the area of 
value added tax. According to the interpretation of the General Financial Directorate, partners of a 
company, who followed the regulation in force as of 30 June 2017, may continue to do so until the end 
of 2018. In the past years, the following rule applied – if one partner became a taxpayer, all partners 
became payers of this tax. The principle of independent action of each partner is newly applied. For 
the purposes of determining the turnover of a partner, the turnover includes the turnover achieved 
within the company and the turnover achieved separately outside the company. The new legal 
regulation removes the registration and notification obligation of the partner. Company partners are no 
longer required to include data for the entire company in their tax return, recapitulative statement and 
control statement.  
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Value added tax rates remain unchanged in 2018 compared to the previous year. In the course of 
2017, there was a significant change for the delivery of newspapers and magazines, namely because of 
their transfer to the second reduced rate. The basic rate remains at 21%; the first reduced rate is 15%, 
and the second reduced rate is 10%.  

Changes in the Act No. 235/2004 Sb., on Value Added Tax, are also expected in years to come. 
An example of this is the self-assessment system, which will mean a faster refund of excess 
deductions for VAT payers. The self-assessment system should be effective from 2020. Changes were 
also made in the Act No. 353/2003 Sb., on Excise Taxes. With effect from 1 January 2018, the excise 
tax on tobacco products was increased. The fixed part of the tax rate for cigarettes increased to 1.46 
CZK/unit, but the percentage of the rate remains at 27%. The excise tax per one cigarette must amount 
at least to 2.63 CZK. The tax burden on cigarettes has been increasing in the Czech Republic for a 
long time. Compared to 2017, the tax rate also increased for cigars and cigarillos to 1.71 CZK/unit and 
for smoking tobacco to 2,236 CZK/kg.  

The tax burden on energy taxes also increases, namely for the tax on natural gas intended for 
engine propulsion. As of 1 January 2018, the tax rate has changed. The increase is double the amount 
– from 68.40 CZK /MWh of heat to 136.80 CZK/MWh of heat.  
 
 
5. Upcoming Changes in Accounting and Taxation for the period of 2020-2030 
 

Changes in accounting legislation or terminology occur in the Czech Republic every year, as 
well as harmonization of procedures with valid or newly introduced regulations. Changes and 
amendments to the accounting legislation respect the transposition of Directive 2013/34/EU of the 
European Parliament and of the Council (the same directive that led to a major amendment to the Act 
on Accounting and subsequent decrees already from 1 January 2016, 1 January 2017 and 1 July 2017). 
At the present time, legislators are preparing and discussing a completely new concept of accounting 
legislation with the expected implementation in 2020–2030. The main reason for the new concept is 
that the Act on Accounting and related regulations are one of the laws with longest period of validity 
in the Czech Republic (the Act on Accounting has been in force since 1991), and also the fact that 
accounting ceases to be a national domain and users are globalising, as well as emerging requirements 
to regulate national accounting amendments within obligations of EU member states. The regulatory 
and reporting requirements are fundamentally changing in the view of the fact that IFRS has been 
adopted as a global financial reporting standard. Back in 2016, there was a significant recodification of 
civil and commercial law in the Czech Republic, which also had an influence on changes in the Czech 
accounting legislation. A large part of the existing Act on Accounting is satisfactory, but some parts 
are completely absent and its arrangement is, in fact, unsatisfactory, which is also true for its 
implementing regulations. There is a consensus on greater utilization of IFRS and its use for the 
corporate income tax base (which relates to the forthcoming amendment to the Income Tax Act). 
Accounting and reporting requirements on small and simple entities should be minimized. 

In addition to that, an entirely new Income Tax Act is being prepared, which should be in force 
during 2019-2020 as part of "MY Taxes" project of the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic 
(hereafter only MF CR). The project MY Taxes, that is modern and simple taxation for citizens and 
entrepreneurs, should mainly provide a simpler tax system. Apart from the new income tax act, it 
includes self-assessment, individualisation and an electronic portal for tax administration. The aim is 
to prepare a simple concept of the act, which the government will be able to "tailor" to its policy. The 
act itself will so be purified from all exceptions and sectoral policies and should not include any 
parameters (i.e. not even a tax rate). A catalogue of standardized exceptions is to be added to the act, 
from which the minister will be able to select his program priorities [MF České republiky, 2016].  

A tax package for 2019 is already being prepared in 2018, which is the first draft amendment to 
the Income Tax Act published by the MF CR, which is currently in an external commentary procedure 
during which, for example, a fundamental adjustment to the concept of taxation of individuals is 
expected. As for the personal income tax, the super-gross wage and solidarity tax increase should be 
abolished. The proposal instead expects the introduction of a progressive tax rate of 19% for incomes 



2/2018 Transactions of the Universities of Košice 22 

2/2018 Transactions of the Universities of Košice  22 

up to 1.5 million CZK and 24% for incomes exceeding this amount. The proposed income tax rate of 
19% is 1.1-percentage point less than the current tax burden (20.1%). Along with the abolition of the 
super-gross wage, the MF CR also proposes to abolish the so-called solidarity tax increase stated in 
Section 16a of the Income Tax Act, and another tax rate of 24%, an equivalent to today's effective 
rate, should be introduced for the corresponding income exceeding approximately 4 times the average 
wage. The proposal allows the self-employed individuals to deduct ¾ of the insurance contributions 
paid from the tax base, which would result in reduction of the total contribution burden for the vast 
majority of self-employed individuals who pay non-zero tax. That means that in addition to the lump 
sum, entrepreneurs will be able to deduct from the tax base 75% of paid social and health insurance 
contributions. The total impact of the proposed tax changes on the state budget revenue is estimated at 
the amount of -15.2 billion CZK (for public budgets is estimated a reduction of -22.3 billion CZK), 
which will so remain in taxpayers’ wallets [MF České republiky, 2018]. 

Other changes will affect, for example, legal entities, which will newly be subject to the rules of 
Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (ATAD) of the European Union, and a general anti-abuse rule will be 
introduced in the tax procedure. 
 
 
6. Conclusion  
 

The reason for significant changes in accounting is the transposition not only of mandatory but 
also of optional provisions of Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council. It 
is another amendment of Czech accounting regulations that is expected to simplify and clarify the 
reporting and valuation of selected items of financial statements, which should again bring the Czech 
accounting legislation closer to international financial reporting standards, European standards and 
requirements. 

Significant changes in the income tax include especially the increase in the amount of tax 
benefit for dependent children in the common household. Super-gross wage still remains the basis of 
income tax from dependent activity, which is not usual practise in the European Union. Another 
significant change was the reduction of limits for lump sum expenses in case of taxing income from a 
self-employed activity, or new options of when income can be taxed with withholding tax. In the area 
of indirect taxes, the Act on Value Added Tax was further harmonized with the requirements of 
European law.  

Amendments to the legislation governing accounting and taxation in the Czech Republic can be 
also expected in years to come. Some changes will follow directly from regulations or directives 
issued by the European Union, and some of them will follow from the direction and structure of the 
Czech Republic’s economic policy.  
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Abstract 
 
This article presents the essence of local government investments in Poland. The main purpose 
of this study is to identify investments made by local government units in Poland in 2010-2016. 
The conclusions presented are based on a review of the literature and an analysis of available 
statistical data. The applied value of this work stems from the fact that it answers the question of 
how the investment activity of local government units in Poland evolved in 2010-2016. The 
adopted research period made it possible to carry out an ex-post analysis in dynamic terms, 
which provided the basis for comparing the examined values over time. The empirical data used 
in the analysis came from the Polish Central Statistical Office (GUS) and the Polish National 
Council of Regional Audit Chambers (KR RIO) data from 2010-2016. 
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1. Introduction 
 

The qualitative transformations of the socio-economic system in Poland forced the local 
government units (LGUs) to seek new ways and principles of functioning in the market economy. For 
each actor operating in these new conditions, investing is considered an objective necessity, although 
the consequences of wrong investment decisions are borne not only by local governments, but also by 
other entities involved in financing public undertakings, especially the local community. 

Against this background, local government in Poland faces a number of new conditions and 
challenges. First of all, there is a systematic increase in the scope of public tasks being carried out not 
only as a result of assuming additional tasks by the state (without appropriate financial 
compensations), but also as a result of systematically growing expectations of residents as recipients 
of local public goods and services. Secondly, it has become more difficult for LGUs to access 
returnable sources of financing as a consequence of tightening formal and legal mechanisms of local 
debt regulation (the ban on incurring loans for current expenses, known as the golden rule of the 
budget, in force since 2011, as well as new limits on debt servicing costs, known as individual debt 
ratios, in force since 2014). Thirdly, the undoubted challenge for LGUs is the current financial 
perspective of the European Union (2014-2020), which is much more demanding for local government 
beneficiaries than the previous perspective (2007-2013). This is not only about the need to provide 
own contributions required of local-government beneficiaries in the context of funds obtained from the 
European Union budget, but also about the explicitly more stringent efficiency criteria for absorption 
[Poniatowicz, Dziemianowicz 2017, pp. 128-129]. 
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Creating an effective system of local government finances is of interest to both theoreticians and 
practitioners involved in government at local level. For several years, the Polish literature on public 
finance has been dominated by the subject of a financial management system that would be aimed at 
strengthening the efficiency and effectiveness of spending public funds. On the one hand, efficiency 
lies in the search for savings in expenditures, and on the other, it involves finding solutions that ensure 
the best social effect, often with the involvement of a certain amount of financial outlays. 

This article presents the essence of local government investments in Poland. The investment 
activity of local government units is characterized by a significant scope of autonomy. This applies 
both to the types of investment projects implemented as well as the selection of sources of their 
financing. This autonomy also springs from the optional nature of such activities. Local government 
units can finance investments using budget revenues, in particular own revenues, or raise funds in the 
form of income. However, it should be noted that problems might arise in financing long-term 
investment projects, related to obtaining returnable funds due to the increase of financial risk. LGUs, 
then, lacking the possibility of obtaining external financing, implement investment projects relying on 
their own resources only. 

The main purpose of this study is to identify investments made by local government units in 
Poland in 2010-2016. The conclusions presented are based on a review of the literature and an analysis 
of available statistical data. The applied value of this work stems from the fact that it answers the 
question of how the investment activity of local government units in Poland evolved in 2010-2016. 
The adopted research period made it possible to carry out an ex-post analysis in dynamic terms, which 
provided the basis for comparing the examined values over time. The empirical data used in the 
analysis came from the Polish Central Statistical Office (GUS) and the Polish National Council of 
Regional Audit Chambers (KR RIO) data from 2010-2016. 
 
2. The essence of local government investments 
 

Local government investments are an important factor for local development. They create 
conditions for increasing the competitiveness of local governments and improving the quantity and 
quality of municipal and social services. The definition of incurring outlays (investing) in a local 
government economy may be subject to different interpretations [Gubernat 2017, pp. 191-192]. In the 
literature, investments are described as: 
- assets acquired in order to achieve economic benefits resulting from the increase in their value, 

obtain income from them in the form of interest, dividends or other sources, including commercial 
transactions, in particular financial assets and those intangible and legal assets that are utilized by 
the unit; 

- capital intentionally expended by an investor whose objective is to increase his/her tangible and 
intangible benefits; 

- financial involvement in any undertaking in the hope of obtaining benefits; it consists in allocating 
financial resources not for consumption, but in such involvement from which certain benefits are 
expected in the future; 

- activities aimed at increasing the value of tangible resources of the entity, related to financial 
outlays intended for creating, increasing and modernizing assets; 

- activities aimed at multiplying capital, meaning resignation from current consumption or lending 
capital and incurring related costs in the future. 

Taking into account the above definitions, it can be noticed that investments constitute capital 
expenditures incurred for predefined projects that strive for specific effects in the following 
dimensions [after: Gubernat 2017, p. 192]: 
- financial – acquisition of shares in other entities, long-term securities or granting long-term loans; 
- intangible and legal assets – purchase of property rights, licenses, patents; 
- tangible (material, factual) – using capital to increase community property, e.g. land, buildings, 

plants, networks, means of transport, equipment. 



2/2018 Transactions of the Universities of Košice 25 

2/2018 Transactions of the Universities of Košice  25 

According to B.Z. Filipiak and M. Dylewski [2015, p. 869], the investment activity of local 
government units means: 
- all activities related to the preparation and implementation of development projects, mainly 

involving the creation of new and reconstruction and modernization of already exploited fixed 
assets, as well as various financial operations in banks or the financial market concerning a longer 
time horizon, 

- the entire financial outlay related to the creation of new, reconstruction and modernization of 
facilities related to the provision of goods and services for the benefit of society, 

- the source of the increase in municipal property in the form of new or modernized machinery and 
equipment, means of transport, construction objects. 

The characteristic features of investment activities carried out by local government units are 
[Filipiak, Dylewski 2015, p. 869]: 
- high capital intensity, 
- the problem of achieving efficiency and return on incurred expenditures (the primacy of social 

utility over the return on the capital invested), 
- long utility period for the public, 
- technical indivisibility of objects and immobility, 
- complex and unique technologies of their implementation have a direct impact on the period of 

their implementation and indivisibility of a given investment, 
- the interconnection of investment elements takes on the characteristics of complementarity or 

subsidiarity, 
- investment and financial risk, 
- irreversibility and non-relocatability of expenditures incurred. 

In addition, the feature of investment activities carried out by LGUs is their socio-economic 
utility, which means that it allows investment activities by other investors. Investment activity is 
distinguished by specific rules of financial economy and it affects the level of future income and 
expenditure of the local government unit. 

Therefore, the implementation of local government investments is aimed at obtaining the 
assumed benefits in the future, which are often disproportionate to the expenditures incurred, namely 
[Gubernat 2017, p. 193]: 
- public utility of the investment – the development of infrastructure serves the provision of 

services, but it does not ensure higher incomes in the future, and if it does generate income, it is at 
a level similar to the levels of operation of the constructed facilities; 

- investment effectiveness – the increase of investment expenditures in the scope of infrastructure 
determines in the future a higher level of current expenditures related to their operation, often not 
including income earned; 

- investment attractiveness – implemented infrastructure investments affect the development and 
improvement of the quality of life of residents, but they also foster the development of business 
activity by attracting new investors. In the long-term perspective, this translates into a higher 
income for the local government. 

The issue of financing investment tasks is also defined in the current legislation (Ustawa z dnia 
27 sierpnia 2009 r. o finansach publicznych...), according to which investment expenditures can be 
considered on an annual basis – where they are settled within one budget and in a multiannual 
perspective. Property expenses include: expenditures on purchase and acquisition of shares and 
contribution to commercial law companies, as well as investment expenditures, earmarked subsidies 
for financing or co-financing of investment implementation costs for which funds should be provided 
for in the budget. Considering the long period of incurring investment expenditures, the Act also 
defines the time range of the multiannual financial forecast, which should cover a given budget year 
and at least three consecutive years. This is the minimum period, subject to mandatory extension for a 
period for which the multiannual expenditure limits for investment projects are foreseen, as set out in 
the annex to the forecast [Gubernat 2017, p. 195]. 
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When considering the investment activity of local government units, it is necessary to mark the 
differences between this type of activity and that implemented by economic actors – this applies both 
to the context of the goal, the sources of financing and the method of calculating efficiency 
[Gorzałczyńska-Koczkodaj, Szaja 2013, p. 198]. 

Table 1 presents the most important features that determine the specificity of activities pursued 
by local governments. 
 

Table 1. The specificity of the investment activity of a local government 
[Source: Gorzałczyńska-Koczkodaj, Szaja 2013, p. 199] 

Features that distinguish 
the activities of a local 
government from the 

private sector 

Essence of local government 
activities Specificity of local government activities 

Purpose of investment - improving the existence of the 
local community 

- favouring the development  
of business 

- the degree of implementation of statutory public 
tasks (the degree of satisfying the recipients’ needs) 
has a greater influence on the selection of specific 
projects than profitability, investment return period, 
the possibility of self-financing of investments from 
future receipts’ 

- the analysis of the purpose of tasks is based not only 
on a financial analysis, but above all on the social 
aspect, general development 

- the effectiveness of public investments should be 
assessed at the stage of their implementation, not 
selection 

- investments should increase the competitiveness  
of the unit and imply its long-term socio-economic 
development 

Nature of investment - the need for replacement 
investments to replace the 
used up infrastructure 

- the need to provide public 
services to new areas 

- systematic (continuous) budget load by municipal 
investments (e.g. sewage network, which requires 
restructuring, as well as further expansion in order  
to connect new customers to the network) 

- high capital intensity, especially in the initial phase 
of creating new equipment and facilities  

Impact of investment on 
financial economy 

- implementation of 
investments in areas that 
reduce the costs of starting 
and operating the activity  
of new entities 

- a relatively long period of public funds freeze, 
conditioned by a long period of the establishment 
and operation of the infrastructure 

- the growth of some infrastructure investment 
expenditures may cause an additional increase in 
current expenditures for their operation in the future, 
which cannot be covered by revenues, e.g. 
investments in road infrastructure that does not bring 
revenues in the subsequent years, but requires 
constant outlays on surface maintenance 

 
The local government investment policy is a form of expenditure policy. It is linked with the 

income policy through the prism of using the sources of income for the implementation of investment 
projects. It consists in the conscious and deliberate selection of implemented investment projects, 
sources of financing investment expenditures and entities implementing these investments [Jastrzębska 
2005, p. 16]. Investment expenditures of local government units are a derivative of their financial 
situation – mainly profitable, its dynamics, and the long-term strategy implemented by the units. 
However, it should be emphasized that the importance of individual investment functions in local 
government units varies in time and also depends on the economic situation of the country and the 
legislation in the area of local finances. An important feature, appropriate for investment expenditures 
implemented by local governments, is certainly the freedom to dispose of them. This means that a 
decision to implement an investment project does not result directly from the obligations or the law 
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imposed on the investor, but is rather a discretionary decision of the investor to take actions towards a 
selected task (Ziółko 1995, p. 34). Therefore, pro-development initiatives undertaken in this direction 
are aimed at raising the existing standards of living among the local community. However, due to the 
fact that public resources are limited, they are subject to competition during the process of financing 
the development activities of local governments [Zawora 2008, p. 118]. In practice, this consists in the 
fact that the decision on the implementation of a given investment project limits or prevents the 
implementation of investments in other areas. Therefore, it should be recognized that investment 
activity is subject to numerous financial restrictions, conditioned by [Marchewka-Bartkowiak 2011]: 
- limited financial resources in relation to planned and implemented investment tasks and needs 

reported by local communities; 
- the need to comply with fiscal rules in the area of expenditures (constituting unsurpassable limits) 

and the level of debt (measured by an individual debt ratio); 
- investment competitiveness understood as the necessity to limit expenses dedicated to other 

projects until the termination of the others, in a situation when it is impossible to implement 
several projects in parallel; 

- the limited availability of financial instruments; 
- the low interest on the part of private partners in specific types of investments due to low-income 

projects; 
- the low interest on the part of perpetual users in the implementation and financing of investments 

(due to failure to participate in fees). 
 
3. The sources of financing the development activities of local government units 
 

Investment expenditures of local government units may be financed from both external and 
internal sources. Each of the available forms of financing is distinguished by its own features, and its 
use is determined by both internal (conditions of the beneficiary local government) and external 
(depending on the source of financing) parameters [Gubernat 2017, p. 197]. 

The basis for the budgeting of a municipal project is own budgetary resources, given that it is 
precisely their efficiency that determines the need to use alternative sources of financing. The internal 
sources of financing are own revenues that are at the disposal of a specific local government unit. 
Relying on stable, steadily growing own revenues allows local governments to create reliable, long-
term financial projections and alternative scenarios of financial assembly for investment projects, 
which increases the safety of their implementation. Own income (Ustawa z dnia 13 listopada 2003 r. o 
dochodach jednostek samorządu terytorialnego...), which can be a source of financing investments, 
consists of [Gubernat 2017, p. 197-198]: 
- local taxes and fees – such as real estate tax, forestry tax, agricultural tax, transport tax, tax on civil 

law transactions, inheritance and donations, income tax, as well as local fees; 
- income from owned assets – the level of generated income depends on the resources of the 

property by a given unit, and they consist of: income from the sale, lease, rent of property, 
operation of municipal premises, charges for the use of municipal infrastructure, shares and stocks 
in joint-stock companies and limited liability companies, in respect of interest on funds 
accumulated on bank accounts and on loans granted, as well as revenues from the privatisation of 
enterprises belonging to local government units. 

As the practice indicates, own revenues do not constitute a sufficient resource to implement the 
reported investment needs. Therefore, local governments use external sources of financing1, although 
their availability is sometimes limited due to the negative effects of the financial and economic crisis 
plus the tightening of finance policy by financial institutions and the deterioration of the financial 
standing of local governments, which restricts their ability to incur new debt obligations. Many factors 

                                                      
1 External sources of financing investment projects include: repayable funds (loans, commercial and preferential loans, 
municipal bonds), extra-budgetary financing (leasing, factoring, partnership agreements). 
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determine the possibilities of financing local investment projects and choosing either internal or 
external source of financing. These factors are mainly: the amount of funds necessary to implement an 
investment, the financial situation of the local government, the availability of external financing 
sources, and the cost of raising capital [Zawora 2014, p. 435-436]. 

Among the criteria that guide local authorities when choosing an external financing source, the 
following can also be distinguished [Rosa 2011, p. 367]: financial and non-financial requirements 
(social, political, formal-legal and organizational). Among the financial factors, there are determinants 
independent of and dependent on the local government [Brzozowska, Gorzałczyńska-Koczkodaj, 
Kogut-Jaworska, Zioło 2013, pp. 46-47]. The independent factors include, among others, changes in 
the system of financing LGUs, the way (changes in how) subsidies are calculated, the way (changes in 
how) shares in taxes constituting the state budget income are calculated, (local) economic conditions 
affecting the amount of own revenues. On the other hand, among the factors dependent on LGUs, the 
following can be mentioned: the policy of local authorities in the area of obtaining financing sources, 
collection of taxes and fees, management of municipal property, and the use of financial resources 
from the European Union. 

The financial criterion, which is one of the key factors determining the choice of a repayable 
instrument, allows identifying sources of return capital that require the least financial outlay related to 
debt servicing. The cost of acquiring a given source of financing is affected by the costs incurred at the 
stage of raising capital and cyclical costs related to the ongoing servicing of debt. An important factor 
is also the flexibility of the debt instrument and the ability to adapt it to the specifics of the tasks being 
performed. Additionally, this group of factors also consists of: the availability of capital, the speed of 
raising capital, the period of return of capital and the required security for its return, as well as the very 
risk associated with raising capital. 

The economic factors are significantly influenced by the legal factors, which primarily 
determine the availability of a given source of financing. Examples of external legal limitations are 
statutory limitations in the use of a reverse-grid financial system by local government units. On the 
one hand, statutory restrictions come down to outlining needs that can be financed with reimbursable 
revenues, and, on the other hand, to determining the limits of local government debt. 

Among the formal and organizational factors of an external nature, the procedures for obtaining 
a given source of financing and the type of documents required in connection with the use of the 
repayable instrument are important. Internal conditions are related to, among others: the arrangement 
of political forces in the unit, the term of office, the knowledge of the authorities deciding about the 
choice of a given debt instrument, previous experience in cooperation with financial institutions, the 
attitude towards using repayable funding or the ability to isolate in the organizational structure a 
position (or a person) responsible for debt acquisition and servicing [Zawora 2016, p. 81]. 

The final selection of sources of financing investment tasks is the result of conducting a number 
of analyses and developing alternative scenarios. Given the different characteristics of each local go-
vernment unit and the diversification of investment projects, a universal investment financing structure 
cannot be recommended. Nevertheless, conditions for guaranteeing appropriate sources of financing 
the development activities of local government units assume the following [Gubernat 2017, p. 203]: 
- defining the volume of investment projects along with cost estimates; 
- securing own financial potential as a necessary share in the costs of investment implementation; 
- optimising the financial economy by rationalizing current expenditures as a potential source of 

growth in funds for investment implementation; 
- focusing attention on the possibilities of obtaining non-returnable sources of financing, both 

domestic and foreign; 
- developing alternative scenarios for financing projects that take into account the multiplicity of 

funding sources; 
- taking into account the cost of repaying the incurred debt in future financial flows; 
- analysing current and future creditworthiness; 
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- determining the conditions for maintaining a long-term financial balance – adopting stable 
assumptions of income, investment and credit policy; 

- preparing long-term financial forecasts covering the period of financing investment projects and 
repayment of liabilities arising from them. 

These are the conditions required for a positive design of the project financing process that is 
appropriate for a given local government unit and a given investment project. 
 
 
4. The investment activity of local government units in Poland in 2010-2016 
 

The main factors characterizing the development opportunities of local government units are, 
firstly, own revenues of LGUs, pointing to the foresight of authorities and the economic activity of 
residents and their property, and secondly, investment expenditures, demonstrating the tendency of 
LGUs to increase their property, and in doing so, contributing to the better living conditions of 
residents and an overall social and economic development [Zawora 2016, p. 82]. 

When analysing the investment activity of local government units, the share of expenditures for 
investment activities by LGUs in Poland in 2010-2016 in relation to total expenditures was first 
assessed. Detailed data in this respect are presented in Table 2. 
 

Table 2. The investment activities of local government units in Poland in 2010-2016 
[Source: own study based on data from Sprawozdanie z działalności... (2011-2017)] 

Item 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Total expenditures (PLN mln) 177 766,1 181 594,7 180 459,2 183 838,6 196 754,1 199 415,3 206 034, 6 
Total investment expenditures 
(PLN mln) 43 281,7 41 188,1 34 401,0 33 497,4 39 922,7 37 219,9 24 407,5 

Share of investment 
expenditures in total 
expenditures (%) 

24,3 22,7 19,1 18,2 20,3 18,9 11,8 

Investment expenditure ratio (%) 83,8 85,6 84,3 84,4 84,8 88,7 82,5 
Investment expenditure per 
capita (PLN) 1 133 1 078 893 870 1037 968 635 

Share of investment expendi-
tures on programs and projects 
implemented with foreign 
funds in total expenditures (%) 

12,3 13,6 11,9 11,3 10,0 8,5 1,6 

Share of investment expenditu-
res on programs and projects 
implemented with foreign funds 
in investment expenditures (%) 

no data 50,4 51,3 50,4 49,4 44,9 13,1 

Share of investment expenditu-
res financed with foreign funds 
in total expenditures (%) 

7,6 8,5 7,6 7,5 6,5 5,6 0,8 

Share of investment expenditu-
res financed with foreign funds 
in investment expenditures (%) 

no data 30,5 31,9 31,9 32,1 29,8 6,9 

 
When analysing the share of investment expenditures in total expenditures, a downward trend 

can be observed, save for 2014 when a slight increase was recorded. In addition, it should be 
emphasized that the average share of investment expenditures in total expenditures fluctuated around 
20% (excluding 2016). This tendency should be assessed negatively, because when total expenditures 
grow along with the decrease of investment expenditures, it should be assumed that current expenses 
are on the rise. In 2016, the share of current expenditures was the highest since 1999, i.e. since the 
introduction of the administrative reform in Poland, which led to the creation of new levels of local 
government. In 2016, this share in total LGU expenditure in Poland was at 87.5% (at 80.4% in 2015). 
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This situation was in part the result not only of changes in the structure of income, but also in the 
current investment policy, where part of the investment was completed, while expenses for servicing 
(i.e. ongoing exploitation of completed investments) are on the rise. Another factor was also the 
"Rodzina 500+" [“Family 500+”] program, expenditures for which appeared for the first time in 2016 
and were of a current nature, although it was not a decisive element. Without taking these measures 
into account, the share of current expenditures in total expenditures was still the highest since 1999, at 
86.3%. 

According to the presented data, the highest investment activity of local government units was 
recorded in 2010-2011 and 2014. The highest total expenditures concern the period from 2013 to 
2016. The reason for the decline in the investment activity of local government units was, primarily, 
the high indebtedness of local governments resulting from the implementation of investment projects 
in previous years (including those co-financed by European Union funds), changing the rules for 
shaping the level of indebtedness, in particular the structure of the individual debt ratio, and 
introducing the balancing rule for the current budget. Lack of possibility to increase budget revenues 
for financing investments (largely related to the imposition of additional tasks on the local 
government, resulting in an increase in current expenditures) and the need to limit local government 
debt, caused by the reduced ability to incur new liabilities, may still cause difficulties in financing 
development activities for local governments. 

In the current program period of the European Union, the conditions for financing investment 
activities have also changed, moving away from the current policy towards an integrated approach that 
assumes the primacy of thematic goals and matching to them adequate support instruments. In 
addition, the support is directed both to province cities and to areas linked with them functionally that 
face serious development challenges related to the restoration of their significance in development 
processes. 

Table 2 shows that the share of investment expenditures on programs and projects implemented 
with foreign funds in total expenditures was the highest in 2011, and it systematically decreased in 
subsequent years. However, the share of investment expenditures on programs and projects 
implemented with foreign funds in investment expenditures was the highest in 2012. Similarly, the 
share of investment expenditures financed with foreign funds in total expenditures was the highest in 
2011. In turn, the share of investment expenditures financed with foreign funds in investment 
expenditures was the highest in 2012-2013. After this period, their share systematically decreased, 
although slightly until 2015. In 2016, a sharp decline could be observed. 

The positive assessment of financing investment activities from EU funds and foreign sources 
consists of the resultant of having own income and complying with fiscal rules (related to expenditure 
and debt). Unable to generate income, local government units would not be able to carry out 
investment activities. The very use of EU and foreign funds comes burdened with the principle of 
additionality. Considering the financing structure of investment activities, it is to a significant extent 
financed from operating surplus and from revenues.  

The indicator of investment expenditure per capita is also a measure that speaks of the 
attractiveness of a local government unit2. Its high value indicates the possibility of creating the 
development of LGUs, which can attract both residents and investors. The size of investments carried 
out showed fluctuations in the analysed period, with the largest investment expenditures recorded in 
2010-2011 and the subsequent increase observed in 2014. 

Table 3 shows that investment activities are most actively conducted by province local 
governments, which is primarily the result of their size. In addition, the valuable recognition of 
investments made by provinces is significant in terms of their amount. Investments made by gminas, 
although constituting a collection of smaller facilities, also demonstrate their significant activity in the 

                                                      
2 Measures determining the ability to finance the development of a local government unit, as well as allowing to assess its 
attractiveness in terms of investment, should be calculated per capita, so as to make comparable individual indicators of a 
given local government unit. 
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area of investment. Therefore, it can be concluded that gminas are the most active in conducting 
investment activities. An important group are also cities and towns with poviat rights, while poviats 
and the Capital City of Warsaw are the weakest in terms of investment activity. It should also be noted 
that the investment activity of LGUs has been systematically decreasing since 2010. However, in 
2014, an increased investment was characteristic for the entire local government sector. 
 

Table 3. The share of investment expenditures in total budgetary expenditures of local government units 
in 2010-2016 by types of local government units in investment expenditures (%) 

[Source: own study based on data from Sprawozdanie z działalności ... (2011-2017)[ 

Item 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 
All LGUs, including: 24,3 22,7 19,1 18,2 20,3 18,9 11,8 
gminas [communes, municipalities] 24,7 22,5 17,7 16,2 17,8 16,5 10,8 
Capital City of Warsaw 21,4 17,1 16,8 15,0 17,5 10,2 9,0 
cities/towns with poviat rights 21,6 20,9 19,5 18,2 20,1 19,1 11,1 
poviats [districts] 21,7 18,6 12,3 12,3 14,5 14,4 12,7 
province local governments 37,5 39,4 35,9 38,4 42,3 43,1 24,4 

 
Table 4. The structure of investment expenditures of local government units 

by selected divisions of budgetary classification in 2010-2016 
[Source: own study based on data from Sprawozdanie z działalności... (2011-2017)] 

Item 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

600 – transport  
and communication 

GM 
PO 
PR 

30,9 
67,3 
52,8 

29,5 
67,8 
54,0 

25,7 
55,9 
51,2 

29,3 
60,0 
58,6 

32,6 
64,5 
ND 

32,5 
65,3 
ND 

41,4 
71,3 
ND 

900 – municipal economy 
and environmental 
protection 

GM 
PO 
PR 

18,0 
1,4 
1,0 

19,9 
1,7 
0,6 

21,4 
2,8 
0,6 

20,0 
2,2 
0,4 

18,7 
2,0 
ND 

21,3 
ND 
ND 

10,6 
1,7 
ND 

010 – agriculture  
and hunting 

GM 
PO 
PR 

13,5 
0,2 

11,8 

14,9 
0,3 

14,8 

13,2 
1,3 

15,6 

12,6 
1,2 

15,3 

10,9 
3,0 
ND 

11,5 
4,3 
ND 

ND 
ND 
ND 

801 – education  
and upbringing 

GM 
PO 
PR 

10,5 
9,2 
0,8 

8,7 
9,9 
0,9 

9,2 
11,7 
1,8 

9,4 
10,4 
1,0 

9,0 
7,4 
ND 

9,2 
5,0 
ND 

11,1 
6,6 
ND 

921 – culture  
and protection of national 
heritage 

GM 
PO 
PR 

5,4 
0,8 
4,1 

5,0 
0,8 
4,3 

6,5 
1,1 
4,5 

6,2 
0,7 
4,0 

6,6 
ND 
ND 

3,7 
ND 
ND 

3,8 
ND 
ND 

700 – housing economy 
GM 
PO 
PR 

4,6 
1,1 
1,0 

5,0 
1,5 
0,9 

6,1 
3,1 
1,8 

6,2 
3,4 
0,6 

5,4 
2,5 
ND 

5,6 
2,6 
ND 

11,7 
1,8 
ND 

926 – physical culture  
and sport 

GM 
PO 
PR 

9,2 
2,3 
7,0 

8,8 
1,9 
3,8 

8,4 
3,2 
3,3 

5,9 
1,2 
1,3 

6,2 
ND 
ND 

5,1 
ND 
ND 

10,5 
ND 
ND 

851 – healthcare 
GM 
PO 
PR 

0,6 
6,5 

11,0 

0,5 
5,1 

10,3 

0,6 
5,7 

10,2 

0,5 
4,9 
7,7 

ND 
3,8 
ND 

ND 
5,3 
ND 

2,3 
6,9 
ND 

750 – public administration 
GM 
PO 
PR 

1,3 
2,7 
1,8 

1,5 
3,4 
1,3 

1,8 
4,4 
1,7 

2,1 
4,9 
2,0 

ND 
4,3 
ND 

2,4 
3,6 
ND 

2,3 
3,0 
ND 

754 – public safety  
and fire protection 

GM 
PO 
PR 

2,1 
2,7 
0,3 

1,7 
1,8 
0,4 

1,8 
2,4 
0,5 

2,2 
2,5 
0,3 

2,3 
ND 
ND 

ND 
2,5 
ND 

2,0 
1,5 
ND 

852 – social assistance 
GM 
PO 
PR 

0,3 
2,5 
0,0 

0,2 
2,2 
0,0 

0,3 
3,3 
0,0 

0,3 
3,6 
0,2 

ND 
3,3 
ND 

ND 
2,6 
ND 

ND 
2,5 
ND 

630 – tourism 
GM 
PO 
PR 

2,1 
0,8 
0,6 

2,4 
0,9 
1,4 

2,3 
0,6 
1,4 

ND 
ND 
ND 

ND 
ND 
ND 

ND 
ND 
ND 

ND 
ND 
ND 

Explanations: GM = gminas, PO = poviats, PR = provinces, ND = no data 
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Table 4 presents the structure of investment expenditures of local government units according to 
the divisions of budgetary classification in 2010-2016. At the outset, it should be noted that the 
applicable reporting in the analysed period did not include all divisions, hence there is no data in some 
cases. It should be emphasized that this lack may also result from the specifics of a given type of local 
government units (e.g. lack of justification for performing a given type of task). The main investment 
trends among local governments in Poland have not changed for years, with transport and 
communication being the predominant area of investment across all government levels. Another major 
area of investment activity for gminas and poviats is municipal economy and environmental 
protection. Investments in education and upbringing are also significant, whereas investments in 
agriculture and hunting are significant for local governments in provinces and gminas. It should also 
be stressed that the indicated directions of investment activity of particular groups of local government 
units were determined by socio-economic needs and tasks. It was the investments that made it possible 
to increase the standard of performed tasks or to carry them out at the current level. 

The investment activity pursued by local government units in Poland is determined by both own 
expenditures as well as funds from the European Union and foreign sources. In the analysed period, a 
change was observed in the intensity of assistance in financing investment activities. The use of non-
returnable funds is conditioned by a number of factors that depend on the EU policy and that are 
subject to fiscal rules (in particular, in relation to expenditure and debt). 

Provinces are the most active in terms of investment in Poland, but gminas actually "lead the 
way" in conducting investment activities as such, pursuing a significant number of smaller investment 
projects of lesser financial value. The activity of local governments at province level is predominant in 
terms of financial value, but considering the size and importance of investments, it is the gminas that 
implement the largest investment projects and undertakings that have a significant impact on the 
region. 
 
 
5. Conclusion 
 

Investments are one of the significant determinants of the development of local governments. 
Investment size is considered an important indicator of the financial condition of a local government 
unit. The implementation of investment projects has become a challenge for local governments, and a 
dynamic and interesting area for researchers. 

Investment possibilities of local governments are correlated with the ability to generate 
surpluses of free funds that influence their investment potential. The conducted analysis indicates a 
slowdown in the dynamics of the local government investment expenditure in Poland in 2010-2016. 
An important reason for the suppression of investments at the level of local governments was the 
change in legal regulations regarding restrictions in incurring liabilities and the introduction of an 
individual debt ratio taking into account the financial situation of the local government, which forces 
local governments to apply a more stringent spending discipline. 

The conviction about the necessity of using modern methods and financial management 
techniques is becoming increasingly common in local government. By increasing the performance of 
local government units, they will translate into a continuous increase in the standard of living of 
residents. The possibilities of using modern methods and financial management techniques in Poland 
were introduced by the reform of the budget system. Consequently, techniques assuming the 
measurement of the results of activities of individual units of the public finance sector, including local 
government units, have been implemented in the system of public finance management. With 
reference to local government, the provisions of the Act promote the idea of effectiveness and 
efficiency of using public funds by outlining the rules for creating a task-based expenditure layout, a 
multi-annual financial forecast and management control mechanisms. This approach is supposed to 
strengthen the efficiency and effectiveness of the use of public funds. 
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Abstract 
 
The article describes the essence of labour market management, its objective and tasks, the 
analysis of the features of labour market management in the Republic of Moldova. The 
association of the Republic of Moldova with the European Union requires the alignment of the 
local labour market with the European standards. In this respect, due to the existence of 
common problems and challenges both for the national and the European labour market, the 
European initiatives in the field of employment can be taken as an example for the Republic of 
Moldova. The model of labour market management adapted to new social, political and 
economic conditions, is based on four fundamental pillars - formal, non-discriminatory and 
productive employment opportunities, sustainable development of the labour force, improving 
the institutional capacity of labour market management and managing the effects of labour 
migration on the labour market. Achieving the actions in these four directions will ensure a 
higher degree of labour market functionality, thus increasing its competitiveness level. 
 
Key words: labour market management, active labour market policy, labour force development, 
employment, labour force migration 
 
 
1. Introduction 
 

Labour market management requires a conscious organization of the functioning of the labour 
market and its elements. It allows to solve the contradictions that arise in the process of functioning of 
the labour market and to react to the internal and external conjuncture in constant change. The 
processes of globalisation and regional economic integration lead to an increased mobility of the 
labour force and generate a qualitatively new synergistic effect.  
 
 
2. The contents of the labour market management  
 

Labour market management refers to the organization of human and financial resources, 
efficient structure and proper information. At the same time, effective labour market management 
requires the following elements: 
- efficient institutional organization by delegating the authority, rights and obligations related to the 

functions performed, 
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- comprehensive, relevant and timely information systems, 
- adequate funding and provision of technical and material basis, 
- the existence of qualified staff, etc. 

The essence of labour market management can be described as a specific activity aimed at 
making changes in its content and forms, corresponding to the interests of the whole society, region, 
enterprise and individual, through the concerted influence of the labour market actors on all the factors 
in order to achieve the balance between its operating parameters [9, p. 33]. 

At the current stage of development, increasing employment efficiency remains the main 
condition for ensuring economic growth. In this context, the important aspect of labour market 
management is the coordination of the interests of the labour market subjects, which is achieved 
through the appropriate legal framework [8, p. 51]. 

According to our definition, labour market management consists in the analysis of the 
particularities of the functioning of the labour market, the organization of the legislative and 
institutional framework, the planning of the action directions resulting from the strategies and policies 
in the field of labour market regulation, the monitoring and control of the implementation of the 
actions, the elaboration of the modalities for improving the market in order to achieve the major 
objective of sustainable and full employment. 

The main objective of labour market management is to ensure the efficient functioning of the 
labour market, which implies full employment of the population, including by means of vocational 
training and re-training, balancing demand and supply of work on the economy as a whole and on 
specific branches. The tasks of the labour market management deriving from this objective are: 
[a] to increase the qualification of the labour force in accordance with the skills required on the labour 

market, 
[b] ensuring the fullest occupation of the population and the elimination of all forms of discrimination 

on the labour market, 
[c] implementing the advanced forms of monitoring and controlling the results of implemented 

policies. 
 
 
3. Common tangencies between the local and the European labour market 
 

There are a number of common challenges and problems in the labour market of the Republic of 
Moldova and the European Union, towards which the European efforts are directed and the attention 
of the Moldovan authorities is focused: 
1. demographic aging, which leads to a change in the demographic structure of the labour force and 

the dependency ratio; 
2. unemployment among young people, parallel to the low number of young people in the labour 

market; 
3. employment of people with disabilities in types of works that they can perform; 
4. promoting lifelong learning and raising the level of professional training of the workforce; 
5. promoting labour flexibility by addressing alternative forms of employment (part-time 

employment, temporary agency employment, etc.); 
6. promoting occupational safety by ensuring workers' rights; 
7. ensuring workplace security, promoting decent and motivating working conditions that contribute 

to increasing work productivity; 
8. ensuring non-discriminatory treatment in terms of employment and remuneration; 
9. promoting labour mobility; 
10. the development of a coherent and fair social protection mechanism able to ensure a decent living 

standard for the population, and at the same time contributing to the stimulation of the population 
to work in the labour market. 
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Based on these prerequisites, European authorities have developed the Europe 2020 Strategy, 
whose main social objective is that 75% of the 20-64 year-old population have a job [3]. In pursuit of 
this major goal New Skills Agenda for Europe was developed, with the objectives to improve the 
quality and relevance of training and other ways of acquiring skills; to make skills more visible and 
comparable; to improve information and understanding of trends and patterns in demands for skills 
and jobs (skills intelligence) to enable people make better career choices, find quality jobs and 
improve their life chances [5]. From the financial perspective, attention has been paid to developing 
the framework for labour market measures (the European Social Fund, the European Employment and 
Social Innovation Program, etc.). 

Fundamental direction for the development of the European labour market was flexicurity - 
"promoting labour market flexibility and modernizing the organization of work and labour relations, 
including job security and social protection, especially of vulnerable and disadvantaged groups in the 
labour market" [4, p. .26-28]. One of the prerequisites for achieving flexicurity is the lifelong learning 
process and the recognition of knowledge, skills and competences acquired through non-formal or 
informal learning, in order to increase the chances of employment in the labour market. In the 
European Union, it is based on the European Qualifications Framework for Lifelong Learning and the 
National Qualifications Framework. An attempt to draft the Concept of the National Validation 
System for Non-formal and Informal Learning was made in the Republic of Moldova, too [6]. 
 
 
4. Features of labour market management in the Republic of Moldova 
 

The European vector followed by the Republic of Moldova at the present stage requires the 
alignment of the local labour market management with the European standards. This involves 
improving the management of the institutional framework, developing and promoting effective labour 
market policies, taking over the practices of the European countries in the field, increasing the 
flexibility of the labour market and creating the conditions for the emergence of attractive and 
sustainable new jobs. Meeting the European standards means improving the management of the labour 
market by completing with new mechanisms and instruments, materialized in the resultant measures of 
population occupation, performance indicators, etc. In this context, the management of the labour 
market is of particular importance, favouring the rational use of the labour force, contributing to a 
more balanced correlation between labour supply and demand.  

Main issues in the field of local labour market management identified in the research process 
are the following: 
- The poor correlation between the professional skills of the labour force and the employers’ needs, 

respectively imperfect connection of the educational system with the requirements of the labour 
market. 

- Insufficient information on labour migration, these gaps generating a reduction in the efficiency of 
labour market integration policies for migrants 

- Economic and organizational difficulties that hinder the creation of attractive and sustainable jobs, 
insufficient efforts to support the small and medium-sized enterprises sector as the main source of 
jobs. 

- The reluctance of the population, especially of the job-seeker, to address the National Agency for 
Employment services, the lack of employees' interest in raising the level of qualification of the 
workers and trainees who are in practice. 

- Insufficient mechanisms for integrating people with special needs (such as those with disabilities, 
vulnerable families, etc.) into the workforce. 

- The insufficiency of the human resources with training and qualification required by the 
transformations that are currently taking place, within the institutional and labour market in 
general, the necessity of numerical completion of the personnel involved in the labour market 
management. 
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The main directions and actions in the field of labour market management, which should be 
applied in the Republic of Moldova, are: 
- facilitating the creation of attractive and sustainable jobs for the population, including mechanisms 

to motivate employers to invest in job creation, especially in rural areas; 
- the development of human capital in order to increase the level of competitiveness of the labour 

force and increase the employment opportunities, respectively the inclusion of a larger part of the 
population in the process of lifelong learning, a closer correlation between the vocational training 
system and the labour market ;  

- accelerating reform in professional technical education, eliminating disproportions in the level of 
education held by the population; 

- improving the institutional framework for the elaboration, implementation and monitoring of 
employment policies; 

- better management of the migration process of the labour force oriented toward the sustainable 
development of the country’s economy; 

- providing a more comprehensive and timely informational basis for analytical in order to make 
optimal decisions in the management of the labour market. 

In the context of European integration, one of the preoccupations of the Moldovan authorities is 
to revise national legislation and align it with European standards. 

On the basis of the Europe 2020 Strategy and in accordance with the Association Agreement 
between the Republic of Moldova and the European Union in the Republic of Moldova, the National 
Employment Strategy 2017 - 2021 is elaborated. SNOFM has as main objective to increase the level 
of formal employment, in the conditions of sustainable development. This objective is to be achieved 
by adapting qualifications to labour market needs through the correlation of the education system with 
the labour market, the management of migratory labour processes, etc. 

The general objective formulated in National strategy for Employment 2017-2021: to increase 
the level of formal employment based on economic competitiveness, adequate skills and 
qualifications, under conditions of sustainable and inclusive development [7, p. 4] corresponds to the 
socio-economic conjuncture created, within the framework of alignment to European standards. 

Under the conditions of association of the Republic of Moldova with the European Union, the 
basic pillars of the labour market management become: 
a) formal, non-discriminatory and productive employment opportunities, 
b) sustainable development of the labour force, 
c) improving the institutional capacities of labour market management, 
d) managing the effects of the migration process on the labour market. 

These directions allow for a higher level of labour market competitiveness, more rational use of 
the labour force. Taking into account the objectives and priorities formulated in the National Strategy 
for Employment 2017-2021, the model of the local labour market management aims to strengthen 
state employment capacities; attention being paid to creating opportunities for employment in rural 
areas, stimulating self-employment, promoting the employment of people with disabilities, correlating 
vocational training with the required labour market skills, establishing partnerships in research 
institutions, educational institutions and the business environment. 

We consider important for the management of the labour market the actions in the field of 
facilitating the transition from studies to professional activity, the involvement of the adult population 
in the process of continuous training. 

Improving the institutional framework by modernizing National Agency for Employment, 
implementing good European employment practices, expanding the range of services provided, 
completing the statistical and analytical basis to facilitate the decision-making process in the field will 
allow for a high performance of the local labour market management. At the same time, due to the fact 
that labour migration is an inevitable process, the use of remittances to create new jobs in the national 
economy is the only solution to generate employment growth. 
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5. Conclusion 
 

The European vector followed at the present stage by the Republic of Moldova requires changes 
in the labour market management in order to bring it closer to the European standards, assuming 
changes in the legislative, institutional framework and the functioning of the labour market. The 
orientation of efforts towards the development of the labour force, creating attractive employment 
opportunities, improving the institutions involved in labour market management and exploiting the 
effects of the migration process in order to stimulate employment is the basic direction of the local 
labour market management. These efforts will allow to achieve an increase in the level of flexibility 
and functionality of the local labour market, as well as raise the level of the occupation of population. 
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Abstract 
 
China is an important player in the global export field. Its pro-export-oriented policy is reflected 
in the trade balance. The transformation that it undergoes from socialist to market-oriented 
brings many unbalanced states. A typical feature for the Chinese economy is the creation of high 
foreign exchange reserves. The consumer behaviour is significantly changed; they make up a 
large amount of savings. The high savings is caused by the government behaviour, which do not 
support domestic demand for final consumption. The question of whether China will become 
one of the most important economic powers, as many economists expect, does not yet have a 
clear answer. 
 
Key words: China, consumption, saving, reform, rebalancing, investment 
 
 
1. Introduction 
 

China is the transforming economy that the process began in 2005 and is inherently less "stable" 
than developed economies. China is an emerging economy, which goes from socialist to market-
oriented. The latest changes in the country include basic education and free basic health services for 
all rural households. These rules have so far not been typical of the functioning of the economy. The 
Chinese economy has own characteristics. It's high savings rate and high level of foreign exchange 
reserves. As it is well known, China is significantly export-oriented. However, the domestic services 
sector is neglected. There is a situation where production is too high and the level of provided services 
is low.  

Household consumption is declining in the long run. Higher savings are generated by reducing 
consumption. Chinese savings are one of the highest in the world. European households are living in 
debt compared to the Chinese, whose disposable income largely retained in the form of savings. 
Institutional differences between China and other countries are deepening. These differences can be 
caused by the capital cost, the high export of consumer goods and the problems in the banking sector. 
Each monetary authority that is responsible for maintaining inflation or the optimum level of 
production, should try to find out if the economy is creating above or below sustainable long-term 
capacity [Aziz, 2006]. 

Over the past 25 years, China’s persistent double-digit growth rate has raised question: what is 
the basis for a very high and sustained growth in productivity? It is really just technological progress 
or some important elements are omitted? Are published data reflecting the reality? Is the enormous 
economic growth sustainable? If not, how long can country to keep increasing in potential output? 
Why has there been a change in consumer behaviour? What made the change of consumption / savings 
ratio? How does the transformation of the economy affect them? Can human capital really be the 
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answer to the enormous growth of the Chinese economy? Was China's transition to business 
profitable? Has the productivity increased by changing the principles of the functioning of the 
economy? 
 
 
2. Economy of China 
 

China is the largest and fastest growing economy in the world in recent years. Savings of this 
country are among the highest in the world. Since 1978, it was taken the first steps towards economic 
reforms. The gross national savings rate in China was on average 37% of the gross national product. 
The economy strengthened to a remarkable 8.7% per capita per year. 200 million Chinese have been 
received from the absolute poverty. Rapid growth was accompanied by a fast transient process. China 
has advanced from the primary rural, agrarian and state-controlled economy to the urban and industrial 
society in which most of the economic interactions are driven by market forces [Kraay, 2000]. 

Since the early 90s, China’s economic strategy was characterized by high savings, high capital 
accumulation and growth-oriented export [Blanchard, Giavazzi, 2016]. Hansen and Prescott [1998] 
claim the theory of overall factor productivity explains the growth of China. 

The reason for the growth can be market-oriented economic reforms. This growth has also been 
accompanied by an "explosion" in Chinese household savings, which has reached impressive levels in 
recent years. Globally, the private savings have declined. China’s per capita income remained below 
industrialized countries [Modigliani, Cao, 2004]. 

Since the early 90s, household investment and government direct investment have been 
relatively stable at levels comparable to the other countries. Business investment differentiates China 
from other countries and explains most of the changes in China’s total investment over time. Net 
external financing of corporate investment - from the banking sector and through net foreign direct 
investment - is high in comparison with other countries. Approximately one-third represents only a 
modest portion of business investment. High government savings are the result of investments 
supported by government. The causes of relatively high corporate savings include a high share of 
capital-intensive industry in GDP and commonly low dividend policy [Kuijs, (2005]. 

A high rate of corporate savings may be related to the attractiveness of investing in a rapidly 
growing economy like China. Retained earnings are usually one of the main sources of funding for 
business investment. Household savings are usually in the form of bank deposits. The interest rate on 
bank deposits is generally low. Household savings have become a major contributor to overall savings 
[Chamon, Prasad, 2005]. 

Savings scenarios could help determine the effectiveness of monetary policy measures such as 
interest rate changes in influencing aggregate demand. The analysis may also be important for 
understanding how financial sector reforms - including the restructuring of the banking sector and the 
development of new financial instruments, enable individuals to borrow against the future income. It 
could affect the overall savings and balance of savings and investments [Prasad, Rajan, 2005]. 

During the twenty-one-year economic reform, China has been observed the financial system 
operated by the bank is the Achilles heel of the economy. Since 2003, the central government of China 
has reformed the largest state-owned commercial banks to improve its competitiveness before opening 
the banking sector to foreign competitors. This condition was set in the context of accession to the 
World Trade Organization. The reform of the banks has significantly improved their performance, but 
the basic problems remain. This development can be assessed in two contrasting ways. The first is 
optimistic: Chinese authorities can afford to gradually reform state banks due to the growth rate of the 
economy, the debt-to-GDP ratio of the small public sector, the size of China’s foreign exchange 
reserves and the large volume of domestic savings [Dobson, Kashyap, 2006]. 

Anderson [2006] notes the removal of bank failures from bank balances significantly reduced 
financial risk. Even though these commitments were not all resolved. 



2/2018 Transactions of the Universities of Košice 41 

2/2018 Transactions of the Universities of Košice  41 

Lending restrictions due to underdeveloped financial markets could also influence the relation 
between economic growth and savings rates. The main idea is: If younger households in a fast-
growing economy could borrow because they expect higher future earnings, they will do so. To 
compensate the consumption, it is necessary to save less and postpone saving for retirement and in 
later stages of the lives [Chamon, Prasad, 2005]. 

The growth in residential real estate investment and house prices is also related to real 
household income growth and a decline in real mortgage rates. Investments have been the main source 
of GDP growth in recent years. Nominal gross fixed capital is estimated to account for about half of 
the nominal gross domestic product growth. In real values, the investments increased to about 15-20%. 
In the past, the government has held only one tenth of total investment. But since the late 1990s, the 
investment-to-GDP ratio has grown by almost 2%, which is more than a third of the overall increase. 
Since the mid-1990s, the ratio of government investment has almost doubled, when the country 
adopted a proactive fiscal policy in response to the Asian financial crisis. State-controlled companies 
make up about half of the investment. Their role decreases in the economy. Investments in production 
are strongly linked to liquidity, which largely reflects the undivided profit. Greater reliance on self-
financing from the profits combined with weak management of Chinese enterprises can lead to pro-
cyclicality of investments, because of managers reinvest profits and expand the assets and market 
share and do not focus on maximizing shareholder returns [Brooks, Barnett, 2006]. 

Eventually, China will become the world’s "saver" and the leader of the developed world in 
terms of long-run capital supply and long-run outlook for the overall balance. Western countries and 
Japan predict the wage per unit of human capital will increase by one fifth by 2030 and by three-fifths 
by 2100. These wage increases are beyond and are not related to technical progress. If Chinese people 
behave like US people, the real wages per unit of human capital will be about 17% higher in 2030 and 
4% higher at the end of the century. Without China, there would be a situation in 2030 when the wage 
per unit of human capital would increase by only 2%, and by the end of the century the wage would be 
4% lower. If China will reach the standard of living of the developed world by the middle of 21 
century, it will increase real wages in the developed world by 40%. This wage development would go 
beyond reasonable wage growth stemming from technological change [Fehr, Jokisch, Kotlikoff, 2005]. 
 
3. Results 
 

The development of foreign direct investment has radically changed between 1981 and 2015. 
The biggest difference was recorded in 1992. Ever since, the outflow of foreign direct investment has 
fallen and the inflow of foreign direct investment (FDI) has been rising. However, the decline is 
steeper than an increase. 

In 2004, Chinese households consumed less than 40% of GDP. The situation was not typical for 
the economy in the past. The consumption-to-GDP ratio was 51% in 1980, when the Chinese economy 
was liberalized. Since this year, the ratio is gradually decreasing. At present, domestic investment is 
constantly growing. The share of investment in GDP was around 40% in 2005. On the other hand, the 
ratio of China’s low consumption to GDP is reflected in high savings, which were almost 48% in 2004 
[Aziz, 2006]. 

In the Fig. 2 we can see the China leads in share of savings on the country’s gross domestic 
product. Norway is the country that has the greatest savings among European countries, but it does not 
even have half the share of savings like China. Greece, Portugal and Latvia have negative value for 
savings. We can say the households in these countries do not make savings of their disposable income, 
but they borrow money from the banking sector. Since 2003, the ratio of saving on China’s gross 
domestic product has been above the consumption ratio. Savings have been around 50%, while 
consumption has fallen to 37%. 

However, it has to be emphasized the consumption of Chinese households is growing rapidly. 
Since the early 90s, annual average real consumption has grown by 8% per year. According to many 
economists, increasing savings has been necessary to achieve economic growth [Aziz, 2006]. 
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Fig. 1. Development of FDI (in% of GDP) [Source: OECD (2017)] 

 

 
Fig. 2. Savings rate in 2015 (% of GDP) [Source: OECD (2017)] 

 
The consumption ratio of China’s GDP is also low compared to other countries. However, the 

international comparison should be done with caution in view of the institutional differences between 
countries. While some countries, including Australia, Canada and Korea, have a relatively low ratio of 
personal disposable income to GDP, they often reflect institutional differences that are not captured in 
aggregate national accounts data. For example, households in Australia and Canada have a much 
higher share of GDP than income taxes for the government. In return, households receive a large 
publicly provided goods that are privately consumed, such as health care and education, which are not 
included in measures of personal consumption in the national accounts. On the contrary, income taxes 
are relatively low in China, while government spending on health and education services has fallen 
and the value is one of the lowest in the selected countries. Institutional differences make the higher 
gap in consumption between countries are increasing [Aziz, 2006]. 

If we assume the growth of savings develops linearly with the increase in population, it would 
mean the China would be recorded annual growth of the population. However, the situation is the 
opposite, as we can see in Fig. 4. The 90s of the 20th century meant a significant decline for China. 
The opposite trend is observed in the share of savings to GDP of the country, where a more significant 
increase has occurred since the 1990s. We can say there is a new generation of people in China, whose 
thinking is focused on making savings. The amount of saving is not dependent on the number of 
inhabitants in country. 

Age effects tend to decrease until the age of 45 years - probably related to costs associated with 
children, including education - at this point begin to rapidly growth. The second interesting finding is 
that saving rate is rising sharply for older households approaching retirement and remains high in the 
early retirement period. It could be due to factors such as growing uncertainty surrounding the 
transition to a market economy and the restructuring of state enterprises. Both may have a greater 
impact on the older households. The high savings rate of older households may partly reflect the rising 
costs of health care. Moving finance social spending - particularly in education and health - from 
governments to households can actually play an important role in the development of the average level 
of savings and the age profile [Chamon, Prasad, 2005]. 
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Fig. 3. Developments in Household Consumption and Savings in China (% of GDP) [Source: OECD (2017)] 

 

 
Fig. 4. Growth of population compared to the development of the gross household savings 

[Source: OECD (2017)] 

 

According to OECD data, a "population explosion" occurred within one year (1987). Annual 
increase is so high, it is unlikely that this statement is true. It would be necessary to consider whether 
in the period before 1987 has not adopted a law on support for families and the population. Qian 
[2007] predicted, when the restrictions imposed on the banking sector were lifted, foreign banks could 
sell the services to Chinese households in all regions. Thus, foreign competitiveness will have much 
greater impact than expected. 

A striking feature of the Chinese financial system is the 90% of financial assets flow through 
the banking system, so banks are much more important in China than in the US or India. The 
experience of countries that have privatised at least part of the pension systems, typically found that 
the privatisation provides political support to the other institutions that promote well-functioning 
capital markets. Capital markets give alternative investment opportunities for households and alterna-
tive sources of funds to businesses. Something like this would automatically draw funds from banks 
and forced them to improve the operations in order to compete. In China, the pension reform is 
necessary in view of the rapidly aging population and the pension system. The existence of significant 
distortions, especially on the capital markets, cannot be denied at present [Boyreau-Debray, Wei, 2005]. 
 
 
5. Conclusion 
 

July 21, 2005 China began the process of rebalancing economy. A new exchange rate rule was 
created to reduce the incentive to invest in the export sector. This step has been considered to be 
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correct because the Chinese economy has focused too much on exports and the country’s capital is 
misplaced. The production is at the expense of providing domestic services [Blanchard, Giavazzi, 2016]. 

Rapid rise of China as an economic power has been explored in detail. Studies conducted by 
scientists around the world have highlighted how the Chinese economy could potentially influence 
Southeast Asia and the developing world. Many economists have predicted that China will become the 
world's largest economy in the 20th century. An important question remains whether the pace of econo-
mic growth in China will continue. Political instability may pose a potential problem in the future. 

Financial sector reform appears to be key to China’s efforts to rebalance growth. The power of 
financial distortions is quantitatively large. It is very important to focus on reforming this sector in 
rebalancing growth towards greater dependence on consumption. Performed simulations indicate, if 
the financial reforms eliminate these distortions the proportion of consumption to gross national 
product could increase from the current level. This would means the ratio of investment to GDP could 
fall [Aziz, 2006]. 

Fehr, Jokisch, and Kotlikoff [2005] call China a "silver lining" in the forecasts of the world 
economic development. The continued rapid acquisition of technology and human capital and the 
extremely high saving rate can significantly increase the world's capital supply. Assuming the capital 
market in the developed world remains open, China has gradually become the main source of capital 
in the developed world. 
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12 p space 

English text that briefly shows ideas and conclusions of presented work. The abstract should be 
structured, but this is not the condition sine qua non. English abstract with key words is always 
the first in non-English articles; the second abstract with key words follows in the same form.  
Structured abstracts. If you use structured abstract, every paragraph begins with the use of not 
bold 11 points high italics. The text always starts from the left margin, no tabulator is used. It is 
recommended not to use unexplained or uncommon abbreviations and numbered citations [3] in 
abstracts. Abstracts usually should not exceed approx. 10 lines.                          11 p bold 
             11 p space 
Key words: all key words in English (resp. in the other language) -- italic type -- words and expres-
sions are separated with two adjacent short dashes -- usually no more than 4 lines 11 p italic 
             11 p space (2 x) 
             11 p space 
Headlines (from the left margin, no full stop)        12 p bold 
             11 p space 
 Continuous text 11 points high, divided appropriately in paragraphs; tabulator 1 cm. The entire 
article, starting from the title and ending with references, must be written with the use of the font 
Times New Roman. Mathematical equations are written in italics, centered and numbered, e.g.: 

11 p space 
c2 = a2 + b2                                                       (1) 

11 p space 
Pictures, graphs and tables must be included in the text at the appropriate places, separated minimally 
with two 11 p space lines (from the object’s text resp. object’s top or bottom). 11 p 
             11 p space 
             11 p space 
 Fig. 1.  The 9 to 11 p text should be upon the tables or under the pictures and graphs, 

separated with one 9 p space line. Or the text may be in the left or right side of a table, 
graph or picture, like this text. If the article is not in English, the text in the other 
worldwide language must be situated at the second place, after English version. The pic-
ture numbering and description are voluntary, but must be uniform in the entire article. 
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[3] * note: The citations and notes are numbered in the same fashion and may be mutually mixed. 

Also you can add all notes collected at the end of the citation list, continuing it’s numbering. 
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